
 

Agenda items shown in blue correspond to attachments/handouts included in Agenda Packet and/or links 

to additional information. Underlined blue text represents live hyperlinks. 

Tehama County Continuum of Care  

Executive Council Meeting 

August 13, 2025 

Agenda 

1. Welcome and Introductions 

2. Adoption of Meeting Minutes 
Meeting minutes for consideration: Regular Meeting held June 11, 2025  

3. Additions to the Agenda 

4. Executive Council Membership  

a. Executive Council Membership Application for Consideration 

Review application submitted by Jared Caylor, Assistant Superintendent, Tehama 

County Department of Education (TCDE) 

5. Project Updates: 

a. PATH Plaza – PATH 

b. Permanent Housing – Travis Lyon 

c. Stakeholders’ Collaborative – Heather Henderson 

d. Rural Indoor Objective (RIO) – Andrea Curry 

e. HMIS/CES 

6. CoC Coordination and Strategic Planning 
Andrea Curry 

a. Financial Report 

7. Capacity Building 
Andrea Curry 

a. Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Round 6 (HHAP-6) 

i. HHAP-6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan 

Suggested Action(s): Approval and adoption of the Regionally Coordinated 

Homelessness Action Plan (Plan), which is a requirement of the Homeless Housing, 

Assistance and Prevention Round 6 (HHAP-6) grant program.  

ii. HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding 

Suggested Action(s): Authorization for the Executive Council Chairperson to sign 

the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the County of Tehama, the 

Tehama County Continuum of Care, and The Vitality Project, as the Administrative 

Entity for the Continuum of Care regarding the HHAP-6 grant program.  

 

 



 

Agenda items shown in blue correspond to attachments/handouts included in Agenda Packet and/or links 

to additional information. Underlined blue text represents live hyperlinks. 

b. TCDE Practical Supports for Homeless Students 

Suggested Action(s): Authorize award of $25,000 in HealthNet HHIP funds to Tehama 

County Department of Education Foster/Homeless Program to support practical supports 

for students experiencing homelessness in Tehama County. 

c. Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Program Update 



 

 1 

Tehama County Continuum of Care  

Executive Council Meeting 

 

Meeting Minutes 

June 11, 2025 

Meeting held via Zoom 

 

COUNCIL ATTENDANCE: PRESENT EXCUSED 

Johnna Jones, Chairperson x  

Jayme Bottke, Tehama County Health Services Agency x  

Travis Lyon, Tehama County Health Services Agency (Alternate) x  

Kris Deiters, Red Bluff City Council x  

Colleen Lewis, Poor and the Homeless Tehama County Coalition (PATH)  x 

Michael Glackler, PATH (Alternate) x  

Gail Locke, General Collaborative Chairperson x  

Pati Nolen, Tehama County Board of Supervisors  x 

Robert Burroughs, Tehama County Board of Supervisors (Alternate)   

Kimberlee Monroe, Empower Tehama x  

Honey Touvell, Tehama County Community Action Agency x  

Continuum of Care Coordinator: Andrea C. Curry 

Notes by: Heather Henderson and Adriana De La Torre 

Meeting called to order at 1:33 P.M. 

 

1. Welcome and Introductions 

2. Adoption of Meeting Minutes 

The minutes and agenda from the Executive Council meeting held on May 14, 2025 were made 

available prior to this meeting for review. No changes were requested. A motion to accept the 

minutes was made by Kris and seconded by Gail. Jayme and Travis abstained. Motion passed. 

3. Additions to the Agenda  

None. 

4. Project Updates: 

a. PATH Plaza Update 

Michael reported that PATH Street Outreach has been putting in extra time at Dog Island 

Park in the lead-up to the day they’ve been told they have to vacate the park. Case 

Managers are going out there with them to make sure that all unsheltered individuals are 

aware of the services available to them. PATH is prioritizing them for shelter beds and 

working on getting current shelter participants into transitional housing to make as much 

room as possible. Unsheltered individuals at Dog Island Park are being offered storage of 

their belongings by PATH and/or wagons to transport their belongings out themselves if 

they want. He also reported that 470 unduplicated individuals were served at PATH Plaza 

in May. Over 9,000 meals were served in May, and they provided 357 Mail services. Jayme 

asked about how Mail Services were tracked. Michael reported that they count a Mail 



 

 2 

Service every time a participant inquires about or picks up any mail. He said that they 

keep mail that is sent to the address they allow for that use for 30 days, filed under client 

name. If a mail item is not picked up, they mark it Return to Sender and return it to the Post 

Office. Michael also reported that 8 Navigation Center participants have exited into 

permanent housing since June 1. 

b. Permanent Housing Update 
Travis Lyon 

Travis reported that there are a few vacancies at Olive Grove, some of which must be 

refurbished before they can be leased to new tenants. One of the Red Bluff projects, Palm 

Villas, was recently notified that they have been awarded Low Income Tax Credits, which 

completes their funding stack. The other Red Bluff project, The Bluffs, submitted an 

application to the Homekey+ funding program in April and expects to hear back on it later 

in the summer. 

c. Stakeholders’ Collaborative 

Heather Henderson 

Heather reported that the last meeting was held on May 7. Andrea presented on the 

HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homeless Action Plan. The group reviewed Key Actions 

from the HHAP-5 Plan and provided feedback regarding the inclusion of each in the 

HHAP-6 Plan. The next meeting will be held on August 8 and will include a review of the 

final draft of the HHAP-6 Plan and an opportunity for last-minute feedback.  

d. Rural Indoor Objective (RIO) 

Andrea went over the RIO Cumulative Report for May 2025, which was included in the 

agenda packet for this meeting.  

5. CoC Coordination and Strategic Planning 
Andrea Curry 

a. Financial Report  

Andrea provided an update on the grant funding being administered by the CoC through 

its Administrative Entity and currently open subgrants as of May 31, 2025.  

6. Capacity Building 
Andrea Curry 

a. Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Program Update 
Andrea reported that the Award Letter for the CoC’s 2024 ESG allocation was received on 

May 22, 2025. The Award Letter stated that HCD intends to issue Standard Agreements 

within 90 days, which could be as far out as mid/late August. The award letter also stated 

that HCD has imposed a media and public announcement embargo on the awards until 

the State publicly announces them.  

Andrea reviewed the changes in the ESG process this year, including that the $418K 

allocated to Tehama CoC is considerably less than the combined total of ESG awards 

currently active in the community ($528K), and that we are required to expend no less 

than 40% of this year’s allocation on Rapid Rehousing.  

This is different than previous years due to the Emergency Shelter funding being made 

available as a competitive opportunity at the State level in the past. Currently, about 20% 

($105,365) of the combined total of ESG awards active in the community are dedicated to 

RRH, about 2% ($10,000) is allocated to Homelessness Prevention, 10% is allocated to HMIS 

and/or supporting the DV HMIS-comparable database, and the remaining 68% ($360,000) 

is allocated to Emergency Shelter. The total currently allocated to Emergency Shelter is 

made up of two competitive ESG grants awarded to Empower Tehama and PATH directly 

from HCD, which will not be an option this year since HCD has allocated all ESG funds to 

CoCs by formula. In the past several years, HCD has allocated 40% of the total ESG funds 



 

 3 

they had available to award to the 22 Balance of State CoCs (CoCs whose covered 

geographies did not include one or more “entitlement areas,” which are” – areas that 

receive ESG funds directly from HUD) available to those 22 CoCs by formula, then offered 

the remaining available for Balance of State CoCs to projects in those CoCs through a 

competitive process in which applicants could request up to $200,000 in grant funds for 

Emergency Shelter (or additional RRH activities). In 2023, both PATH and Empower Tehama 

were successful in the competitive process. Those two competitive awards make up $400K 

of the total ESG funds currently supporting projects in Tehama County, which, together 

with Tehama CoC’s formula allocation of ESG funds in the amount of $128,183, for which 

PATH was selected as the subgrantee through a local competitive process, make up the 

total $528,183 currently in use in the county.  

Based on the new formula, Tehama CoC will need to award between $150K and $160K 

locally for RRH activities (higher than previous years), but the maximum total amount of 

ESG funds that Tehama CoC will be able to make available to local projects, after 

accounting for the minimal amount of funding that the CoC is permitted to retain to cover 

the cost of grant administration, is $190,114, which is just over 50% of the total currently 

being used by local emergency shelters. 

Andrea requested the Council’s input on whether the CoC wanted to consider back-filling 

any of the shortfall in Emergency Shelter funding available to local shelter providers this 

year with HHAP-5 and potentially HHAP-6 funds. She cautioned that the estimated total 

ESG funds that HCD has said will be available to Tehama CoC in each of the next two 

years is even lower – around $281K total in each of the next two years. Council members 

discussed this option and agreed that HHAP-5 funds should be used to supplement ESG 

funds to bring local shelter funding closer to previous levels however, the consensus was 

that it was crucial that the CoC begin stepping down the maximum amount that each 

shelter project applicant can request starting in year 1 and make it clear to potential 

shelter project applicants that the total awards that will be available for renewals in years 

2 and 3 will likely be even smaller. 

Gail mentioned that the Rating and Ranking Committee is short one of the required three 

members and asked if any council members would be available to serve for the 

evaluations of the ESG local selection process. Kris volunteered. 

7. HMIS/CES 

a. 2025 Point in Time Count 

Andrea reported that the PIT Count data has been cleaned up and de-duplicated and 

the PIT Count subcommittee will be meeting next week to finalize the Report. Once it has 

been finalized, CoC staff will reach out to the County and City of Red Bluff to coordinate 

getting on public meeting agendas. July 15 is looking like the date that would work to 

present to both on the same day. Andrea shared her screen via Zoom to share some of 

the statistics that will be included in the report. She reported that while we saw a 9% 

decrease in unsheltered homelessness, the overall count went up by 10%. The decrease in 

unsheltered homelessness was expected due to the PATH Plaza shelter opening between 

the 2023 count and the 2025 count. Andrea also demonstrated how the Housing Efficiency 

rate was calculated and noted that it has improved since 2023 – also due to increase in 

shelter capacity. Another point that was shared was the discrepancy between inflow and 

outflow between the two counts. Feedback from the Council was that this factor was 

important to include in the report because it demonstrates that the population is not static 

– that people become homeless and become housed, and that the count simply 

captures the people who are in the homeless stage on that day.  

Meeting adjourned at 3:40 PM. 

The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, July 9, 2025 at 1:30 PM and will be held via Zoom.   



STAFF REPORT: 

Executive Council Membership Application for Consideration (Agenda Item 4.a.) 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 1 

Executive Council Membership Application for 

Consideration 

Background Information: 

The Tehama County Department of Education (TCDE) plays a key role in the local 

homeless response system as a service provider for students experiencing homelessness, 

a subpopulation of people experiencing homelessness in Tehama County for which 

there is no other representative on the Executive Council. 

Former Assistant Superintendent, Jim Southwick, represented TCDE and this 

subpopulation on the Executive Council for several years before retiring in 2024. Since 

Jim’s departure, TCDE has not had a representative on the Executive Council.  

Jared Caylor, TCDE’s current Assistant Superintendent, under whose leadership TCDE’s 

Foster and Homeless Program operates, has applied to represent TCDE on the Executive 

Council moving forward.  

Financial Impact: 

None 

Requested Action(s): 

a. Approve or decline appointment of Jared Caylor, Assistant Superintendent, 

Tehama County Department of Education, to the Executive Council to serve as 

TCDE’s primary representative and to represent the needs of students 

experiencing homelessness in Tehama County.  

Attachments: 

Excerpt from Tehama CoC Governance Charter - Exhibit B.pdf 

Attachment B: Executive Council Membership Application_J Caylor.pdf 



 Policies & Procedures Manual | A.17  

Consideration Matrix for Selection of Executive Council Membership 

Overall consideration: The Executive Council suggests the Tehama County CoC will ensure a Executive 

Council/Board membership matrix indicating the geographic representation of members, the diversity of 

membership, and subpopulations represented by CoC-funded provider representative(s). 

* More than one category can be satisfied by one member of the board where applicable.

This matrix is to be reviewed, updated and approved by the General Collaborative no less than every 

five (5) years, and can be amended at any time according to Review & Amendment policy found in 

TCCoC’s Governance Charter. 

Category Definition Key Considerations 

Formerly Homeless An individual who was at one point 

homeless.  

Recruitment: Former participants in CoC or 

ESG funded projects can be recruited through 

known program contacts as well as through 

the General Collaborative membership roster. 

Recruitment for this category is often a less 

formal process, and can include assistance 

from an advocate where appropriate. The 

invitation to apply needs to clearly explain the 

expectations for being a member, including 

meeting dates, times, and location. 

Applicants can submit a Board application 

letter of interest indicating what they believe 

they can contribute to CoC governance.  

Emergency Solutions 

Grants (ESG) 

Program Recipient’s 

Agency 

Representative 

Representative(s) from 

organization(s) within the CoC’s 

geographical area that are direct 

recipients and/or subrecipients of 

Emergency Solutions Grant funds 

Considering how the applicant is using ESG 

funds to contribute to the goals in the CoC, it 

is important that the applicant participate in 

the Coordinated Entry  System and 

participates in the community. Consider 

geographic balance, current level of 

participation in the CoC, and how the ESG or 

city, state, county, etc. plan aligns with goals of 

the CoC.  

Continuum of Care 

General 

Collaborative 

Chairperson 

The current Chair of the 

Continuum of Care General 

Collaborative Committee should 

serve on the CoC Executive 

Council.  

Communication between the General 

Collaborative of the TCCoC and the Executive 

Council is a necessary component for 

successful collaboration and ensures that 

practical and effective policies are developed. 

Exhibit B 



A.18  Governance Charter

Representative(s) of 

local government 

and/or mainstream 

assistance agencies 

Individuals who represent local 

government agencies or other 

mainstream agencies directly or 

indirectly involved with 

homelessness assistance  

Public Policy 

Representatives 

Individual(s) with experience and/or 

knowledge of policies, laws and 

local ordinances that affect 

homeless individuals and families 

and/or homelessness assistance 

efforts.  

Consider the current CoC participation and 

involvement. Ensure the applicant understands 

and is in alignment with the direction of the 

CoC, especially as it relates to Coordinated 

Entry and the HEARTH Act. Also important to 

consider the advocacy work the applicants 

have done historically related to ending 

homelessness and/or the CoC goals.  

CoC‐Funded 

Provider 

Representative 

An agency that operates a 

Continuum of Care Program funded 

homeless assistance program.  

Note the subpopulations the applicant 

represents, current and historical participation. 

Homeless 

Subpopulation 

representative(s) 

Individuals with personal experience 

as a member of subpopulations or 

representatives of organizations that 

provide assistance to members of 

homeless subpopulations, such as 

Veterans, victims of domestic 

violence, child abuse or other 

crimes, LBTQ populations, runaway 

and homeless youth, etc. 

The specific service needs of homeless 

subpopulations should be represented 

knowledgeably on the Executive Council to 

ensure that appropriate services are both 

provided specifically to such subpopulations 

and that all possible accommodations are put 

in place to appropriately facilitate access for 

members of subpopulations to mainstream 

services within the geographical area. 

Representative(s) should be knowledgeable 

regarding existing barriers to participation, 

safety considerations and privacy guidelines 

pertaining to one or more homeless 

subpopulations. 



1

Andrea Curry

From: no-reply@weebly.com
Sent: Tuesday, July 15, 2025 9:14 AM
To: Tehama CoC
Subject: New Form Entry: Executive Council Membership Registration

You've just received a new submission to your Executive Council Membership 
Registration. 
Mark as Spam 

Submitted Information: 

Name 
Jared Caylor 

Title 
Assistant Superintendent 

Organizational Affiliation 
Tehama County Department of Education 

Email Address 
jcaylor@tehamaschools.org 

Phone Number 
5305275811 

Mailing Address 
1135 Lincoln St 
Red Bluff, California United States 96080 



2

Please indicate which of the following describes you (check all that 
apply):.Representative of Local Government and/or mainstream assistance 
provider 
1 

If applicable, describe the homeless subpopulation to which you provide 
services: 
Our office, under my general oversight, is responsible for implementing services for 
foster and homeless youth in Tehama County, with a focus on educational 
outcomes for these youth. 

Please describe your experience and current role in addressing homelessness 
in Tehama County: 
TCDE has two full time foster/homeless program specialists responsible for 
implementing and supporting services for youth enrolled or potentially enrolling in 
our county schools. I oversee these staff members and support them as necessary. 
Prior to this role, I worked at a school district and site and had varying levels of 
responsibility and oversight of serving foster and homeless youth (as Associate 
Principal and Superintendent).  

I understand that by submitting this application, I agree to observe the 
Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Code of Conduct and 
Recusal Procedure..I agree 
1  



Project Start Date: 5/1/2024
Report Date: 7/31/2025

Adults 396
Children* 32
Total 428

12 4.67%
8

20

63 21.96%
31
94

13
2

15

298 161 1 94 33 130 32 394

of RIO Participants in 
Interim Housing on 

Report Date.

have been 
permanently housed 

as of Report Date.

ERF-funded RRH
Other RRH program(s)
Total

RIO Participants in Permanent Housing:

In Interim Housing
20

Rapid Rehousing (RRH) is a service model that pairs direct financial assistance with housing move-in costs and short- to medium-term 
rental assistance with intensive case management and service navigation services to assist households with achieving self-sufficiency 
in permanent housing. Individuals counted here are generally in the "housing search" phase of the program.

Permanent housing is community-based, intended to 
be long-term (without a set length of stay and subject 
to a lease or sublease agreement that can only be 
terminated for cause).

In Permanent Housing Total Now Indoors
94 114

Exited any HMIS project to a Permenent Housing Destination:

RIO Participants Receiving One or More Services in Reporting Period (by Project Type):

Day Shelter Emergency Shelter
Permanent 
Supportive 

Housing
Rapid Rehousing Services Only Street Outreach Transitional 

Housing
Total 

(Unduplicated)
of RIO Participants Have Received One or 

More Services Since Project Start Date

92.06%

Rural Indoor Objectives (RIO) Cumulative Report

RIO Participants Identified:

RIO Participants in Interim Housing:

RIO Participants in RRH "Housing Search":

Emergency Shelter
Transitional Housing
Total

Rural Indoor Objectives (RIO) is a collaborative project of providers in Tehama County funded through Round 3 of the State of California's Encampment Resolution Funding program.

RIO Participants Indoors as of Report Date:

Housed through Rapid Rehousing, still enrolled (not yet exited)
Total

RIO Participants are identified through self-report of residing in one of the prioritized encampments on a Coordinated Entry Surveys and/or 
through Street Outreach contact within the RIO project period. 

*Children expected to join RIO-participant parent(s)/caregiver(s) once housed are counted here. Not all children counted were residing with parent(s)/caregiver(s) in encampment(s).

of RIO Participants are Sleeping Indoors as of Report Date.

26.64%

Interim Housing models provide temporary accomodations to individuals experiencing homelessness while they 
work on addressing immediate barriers to accessing permanent housing. Individuals counted here were in either 
Emergency Shelter or Transitional Housing as of the Report Date shown at top.

Rural Indoor Objectives Report – August 2025 
(Agenda Item 5.d) 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 



 

FINANCIAL REPORT – August 2025 

(Agenda Item 6.a) 

 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 Page 1 

 

Tehama CoC Financial Report August 2025 
As of July 31, 2025: 

Open Funding Awards: 

  
HHAP-2 

(CoC) 

HHAP-3 

(Joint) 

HHAP-4 

(Joint) 

HHAP-5 

(Joint) 

HHAP-

1/2 
(County) 

HUD 

CoC 

Planning 

(2023 

NOFO) 

TCDE 

(x4) 
HHIP HHIP ERF-3-R Total 

Initial 

Award 
$250,000  $833,358  $749,744  $482,212  $36,639  $50,000  $57,037  $367,288  $384,712  $14,103,947  $17,314,937  

Expended 

to date 
$230,358  $750,042  $667,697  $126,990  $36,639  $25,432  $0  $104,968  $307,900  $2,832,254  $5,082,281  

Remaining 

in Award 
$19,642  $83,316  $82,047  $355,222  $0  $24,568  $57,037  $262,320  $76,812  $11,271,693  $12,232,656  

Expenditure 

Deadlines: 
6/30/2026 6/30/2027 6/30/2027 6/30/2028 6/30/2025 

6/30/2026 

10/31/2025 N/A N/A N/A 4/18/2028  

 
  

 

 Anticipated Funding Awards:  
 

 
HHAP-5 2nd 

Disbursement 
Total 

Anticipated Amount $374,343  $374,343  

Expenditure Deadlines:  6/30/2028 

Open Subgrantee Agreements: 

Status Project 
Total 

Award 

Expended 

to Date 

Remaining 

in Awards Expenditure 
Deadlines 

In Contract PATH Plaza Development/Operations $1,313,130  $1,309,342  $3,788  6/30/2025 

In Contract First Christian Church Corning $308,666  $104,680  $203,986  6/30/2025 

In Contract PATH Street Outreach (Includes ERF Backfill) $298,839  $244,827  $54,012  6/30/2025 

In Contract PATH Rapid Rehousing $245,131  $189,769  $55,362  6/30/2025 

In Contract Housing Tools Systems Support - 2023-2027 $78,278  $61,910  $16,368  12/31/2027 

To Be Awarded TO BE AWARDED - NVCSS Deposit Assistance $80,000  $0  $80,000  TBD 

In Contract Lutheran Social Services - Youth Housing $326,360  $52,682  $273,678  6/30/2028 

In Contract City of Red Bluff - HLO (ERF) $369,392  $61,088  $308,304  4/1/2028 

In Contract Empower Tehama Behavioral Health Services (ERF) $130,835  $25,869  $104,966  4/1/2028 

In Contract Empower Tehama Victim Services (ERF) $619,165  $72,399  $546,766  4/1/2028 

In Contract PATH Moving Forward (ERF) $1,784,577  $924  $1,783,653  4/1/2028 

In Contract PATH Plaza Navigation Center (ERF) $4,993,990  $1,635,211  $3,358,779  4/1/2028 

In Contract PATH Rapid Rehousing (ERF) $868,703  $112,631  $756,072  4/1/2028 

In Contract Sale Transitional (ERF) $1,371,035  $216,769  $1,154,266  4/1/2028 

In Contract PATH Street Outreach (ERF) $1,073,513  $282,005  $791,507  4/1/2028 

Pre-Contract TCHSA Mobile Crisis Team (ERF) $262,198  $0  $262,198  4/1/2028 

Pre-Contract TCHSA Mobile Outreach (ERF) $107,361  $0  $107,361  4/1/2028 

Pre-Contract TCHSA PSH Supportive Services (ERF) $372,086  $0  $372,086  4/1/2028 

Pre-Contract Pacific West Communities PSH Supportive Services (ERF) $800,000  $0  $800,000  4/1/2028 

In Contract Housing Tools Project Coordination (ERF) $90,000  $21,083  $68,917  4/1/2028 

  Total $15,493,258  $4,391,192  $11,102,066   



 

FINANCIAL REPORT – August 2025 

(Agenda Item 6.a) 

 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 Page 2 

 

 

CoC Coordination, Grant Administration and HMIS: 

 

 Total 

Budget 

Expended 

to Date 
Remaining Expenditure 

Deadlines 

ERF Grant Administration, 2024-2027 $626,895  $137,760  $489,135  4/1/2028 

ERF HMIS, 2024-2027 $325,837  $95,963  $229,874  4/1/2028 

ERF Systems Support, 2024-2027 $138,183  $2,998  $135,186  4/1/2028 

HUD CoC Planning Activities $50,000  $26,030  $23,970  10/31/2025 

HHAP Grant Administration (HHAP-1/2/3/4/5) $212,120  $160,874  $51,247  6/30/2028 

HHIP HMIS $182,740  $112,523  $70,217  N/A 

HHIP CoC Infrastructure/Coordination $422,592  $167,021  $255,571  N/A 

Lived Experience Engagement (LEE) $16,000  $10,801  $5,199  N/A 

Set up for Success Program (Household establishment for PSH) $3,500  $620  $2,880  N/A 

Vehicle Assistance Pilot Program $15,000  $10,680  $4,320  N/A 

Total $1,992,868  $725,270  $1,267,597   

 

Summary: 
As of July 31, 2025: 

  Current Anticipated Total 

Funds Available 
(Grant funds awarded to Tehama CoC but not yet expended) 

$12,232,656  $374,343  $12,606,999  

Funds Committed 
(Grant funds committed/sub-awarded to local projects, not yet expended) 

$12,232,656  $137,007  $12,369,663  

Balance 
(Grant funds awarded to Tehama CoC but not yet committed/sub-awarded to local projects) 

$0  $237,336  $237,336  

 

 



STAFF REPORT: 

Tehama County Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Round 6 (HHAP-6), Regionally 

Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (Plan) and Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

(Agenda Items 7.a) 

 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 1 

Tehama County Homeless Housing, Assistance and 

Prevention Round 6 (HHAP-6), Regionally Coordinated 

Homelessness Action Plan (Plan) and Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU)  

Background Information: 

A Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) was published February 2025 for Round 6 of the 

State’s Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) grant program. The 

application is due August 29, 2025. Both the CoC and the County are eligible 

applicants. Funds will be disbursed by the State in two installments.  

The total combined award for HHAP Rounds 1-5 for the CoC and the County was $3.6 

million. Funds have been used to support the following activities:  

• Interim housing – development  

• Operating subsidies – interim and permanent housing  

• Rapid rehousing and rental assistance  

• Street outreach  

• Youth homelessness services  

• Systems support and coordination  

• Grant administration and Homelessness Management Information System (HMIS) 

Financial Impact: 

HHAP is a formula grant program administered through the California State Department 

of Housing and Community Development (HCD). The program focuses on the 

homelessness response system, in particular permanent and interim housing solutions. 

Tehama County (County) and the Tehama County Continuum of Care (CoC) are the 

HHAP-6 eligible applicants. A table detailing the formula grant amount can be found 

below.  

Jurisdiction HHAP-6 Funding Amount 

Tehama County Continuum of Care $394,860.06 

Tehama County $369,713.21 

Total $764,573.27 

Discussion: 

To apply for the funding, the CoC and County developed the required Regionally 

Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (Plan) and Memorandum of Understanding 

(MOU). HCD provided a template that constitutes the Plan. It has the following 

requirements: Regional Partners’ Roles and Responsibilities and System Performance 

Measures Improvement Plan.   



STAFF REPORT: 

Tehama County Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Round 6 (HHAP-6), Regionally 

Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (Plan) and Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

(Agenda Items 7.a) 

 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 2 

The Plan was developed using input and feedback from the following activities as well 

as existing adopted planning documents. Three public meetings were required.  

Activity Dates and Description 

Planning Meeting July 29th – Staff of the CoC and County 

Consultation with People 

with Lived Experience of 

Being Unhoused  

June 26th and July 31st  – Lived Experience Action Board 

Public Meetings May 7th – Housing and Homeless Stakeholders’ 

Collaborative  

July 30th – Community Conversation on Homelessness 

Solutions 

August 6th – Housing and Homeless Stakeholders’ 

Collaborative 

Governing Body 

Meetings 

August 13th – Tehama CoC Executive Council   

August 19th – Tehama County Board of Supervisors  

Once the CoC and County approve and execute the materials, the HHAP-6 

application will be submitted to HCD by the CoC using an online submission platform 

ahead of the August 29, 2025 deadline. After submittal, HCD has 30 days in which to 

review the submitted application, request amendments, or approve and issue award 

notice. 

Requested Action(s): 

i. HHAP-5 Regionally Coordinated Action Plan 

a. Approval and adoption of the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action 

Plan (Plan), which is a requirement of the Homeless Housing, Assistance and 

Prevention Round 6 (HHAP-6) grant program. 

ii. HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding 

a. Authorization for the Executive Council Chairperson to sign the Memorandum 

of Understanding (MOU) between the County of Tehama, the Tehama County 

Continuum of Care, and The Vitality Project, as the Administrative Entity for the 

Continuum of Care regarding the HHAP-6 grant program. The MOU delegates 

the County of Tehama’s HHAP-6 funds to the Tehama County Continuum of 

Care. 

Attachments: 

Tehama HHAP-6_Memorandum of Understanding.pdf 

Tehama HHAP-6_MOU Exhibit A_RCHA Plan.pdf 

 



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  1 

HOMELESS HOUSING, ASSISTANCE AND PREVENTION PROGRAM, ROUND 6  

JOINT APPLICATION AND REGIONAL COORDINATION MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING   
 

Between the County of Tehama the Tehama County Continuum of Care, and The 

Vitality Project, as the Administrative Entity for the Continuum of Care 

 

BACKGROUND 

The State of California Department of Housing and Community Development (“HCD”) 

issued the Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Round 6 (“HHAP-6”) Notice of 

Funding Availability (“NOFA”) dated February 2025 as authorized by Assembly Bill 166 

which was signed into law by Governor Gavin Newsom on July 2, 2024. Through this NOFA, 

block grants have been made available to all California Counties and all California 

Continuums of Care (hereinafter referred to collectively as “jurisdictions”) for the purpose 

of addressing homelessness within their geographic coverage areas. 

PURPOSE OF THE AGREEMENT 

Geographic coverage areas or regions, defined by HCD as counties, are required to 

apply together for HHAP-6 and jointly complete a Regionally Coordinated Homelessness 

Action Plan (“the Plan”). In this case the County of Tehama (“County) and the Tehama 

County Continuum of Care (“Continuum of Care”) are the eligible applicants and are 

defined as one region. Each eligible applicant may receive their allocation directly or 

they may designate an eligible applicant in their region to serve as their Administrative 

Entity. This indicates to HCD which eligible applicant will enter into a contract with the 

State to receive and administer allocations.  

Through this agreement, the County and the Continuum of Care agree to submit a joint 

application for HHAP-6 funds and to administer HHAP-6 funds locally through The Vitality 

Project, the Administrative Entity for the Continuum of Care. This reduces administrative 

burdens and promotes ongoing collaboration. 

Jurisdictions applying jointly must demonstrate having collaborated to develop the 

Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (“the Plan”) and commit to working 

collaboratively in furtherance of the goals established in the Plan.  

This agreement sets forth roles and responsibilities of the County, the Continuum of Care, 

and The Vitality Project for the submission of the Joint Application, local administration of 

funds, oversight of fiscal and programmatic aspects of use of HHAP-6 funds and local 

collaboration on the implementation of the collaborative Plan. 

 

DECLARATIONS 

1. The County and the Continuum of Care have a shared interest in addressing and 

remediating homelessness within the geographic area known as Tehama County. 



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  2 

2. The County and the Continuum of Care have a longstanding history of 

collaborating on development and implementation of plans and strategies for 

addressing homelessness. 

3. The Continuum of Care serves as the regional collaborative entity that makes 

funding determinations for homeless assistance programs and supports the 

county-wide homeless service system of care. 

4. The County and the Continuum of Care are each eligible to apply for allocations 

of HHAP-6 funding. 

5. The intent of HHAP-6 funding is to support local jurisdictions in their unified response 

to reduce and address homelessness.  

6. The County and the Continuum of Care are required to submit a joint application 

for HHAP-6 funds. 

7. A Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (“the Plan”) has been 

developed collaboratively by the County and the Continuum of Care. 

8. A joint application for HHAP-6 funds may designate a single Administrative Entity 

to administer HHAP-6 funds locally, and the County and Continuum of Care have 

deemed this the most appropriate and efficient choice for the region. 

9. The Continuum of Care has designated The Vitality Project to serve as the 

Administrative Entity for funds received by the Continuum of Care and the Lead 

Agency Continuum of Care coordination activities. 

10. The County and the Continuum of Care wish to submit a Joint Application for 

HHAP-6 funds designating the Continuum of Care as the lead applicant and 

designating The Vitality Project as the Administrative Entity responsible for 

administering HHAP-6 funds locally.  

11. The Continuum of Care will provide fiscal and programmatic oversight for local 

administration of HHAP-6 funds. 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS 

The Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (“the Plan”) shall be reflected in 

a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) committing each signatory to participation 

in, and to comply with, the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. 

HCD MOU GUIDANCE  

Per HCD requirements, this MOU commits each signatory to uphold, participate in, and 

comply with the actions, roles, and responsibilities of each eligible applicant in the region 

as described in the HHAP-6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan and 

summarized below. This MOU also certifies that all Eligible Applicants and subgrantees will 

employ the core components of Housing First.  

1. Commitments to the roles and responsibilities of each eligible applicant within the 

region as they pertain to outreach and site coordination, siting and use of 

available public land, the development of shelter, interim and permanent housing 

options, and coordination of and connection to service delivery. See Section 3.a. 

in the HHAP-5 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. 



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  3 

2. Commitments to Key Actions each eligible applicant will take to improve the 

system performance measures and address equity. See Section 3.b. in the HHAP-

6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. 

3. Commitments to Key Actions each eligible applicant will take to reduce the 

number of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness, to increase the 

number of people exiting homelessness into Permanent Housing, and to reduce 

first time instances of homeless among those exiting institutional settings, including 

but not limited to jails, prisons and hospitals.  See Section 3.b in the HHAP-6 

Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan.  

4. Commitments to  work collaboratively to adopt an encampment response policy 

that complies with the California Interagency Council on Homelessness Guidance 

on Addressing Encampments. See Section 3.a.5 in the Regionally Coordinated 

Homelessness Action Plan.  

5. Commitments to remain in compliance or come into compliance with Housing 

Element law, including having an HCD-certified Housing Element, carrying out 

Housing Element programs in a timely manner, and filing timely Housing Element 

Annual Progress Reports, including an inventory of Surplus Land required by 

Government Code Section 54230. See Section 3.a. in the HHAP-5 Regionally 

Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan  

6. Commitments to identify Prohousing Designation status, housing law violation 

status, and resolution plans for any housing law violations. See Section 3.a. in the 

HHAP-5 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan.  

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

The County of Tehama hereby agrees to: 

1. Redirect its HHAP-6 allocation of $369,713.21 in its entirety to the Continuum of 

Care to be combined with the Continuum of Care’s HHAP-6 allocation of 

$394,860.06 and administered locally by The Vitality Project, as the Administrative 

Entity for the Continuum of Care. 

2. Uphold, participate in, and comply with the actions, roles, and responsibilities of 

each eligible applicant and jurisdiction in the region as described in the HHAP-6 

Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (“the Plan”). The Plan is 

attached to this Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) as Exhibit A.     

3. Collaborate with the Continuum of Care and local stakeholders on planning and 

implementation of efforts to address homelessness within the County of Tehama 

through continued staff participation on Continuum of Care committees, 

including the Continuum of Care Executive Council, the Housing and Homeless 

Stakeholders’ Collaborative, and the Continuum of Care General Collaborative. 

4. Review fiscal reports regarding use and expenditure of HHAP-6 funds submitted to 

the Tehama County Health Services Agency and the Continuum of Care 

Executive Council by The Vitality Project on a quarterly basis. 

5. Review fiscal and programmatic reports prepared by The Vitality Project for 

submission to the State of California for the HHAP-6 program. 



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  4 

The Continuum of Care hereby agrees to: 

1. Uphold, participate in, and comply with the actions, roles, and responsibilities of 

each eligible applicant and jurisdiction in the region as described in the Plan. The 

Plan is attached to this Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) as Exhibit A.     

2. Publish and maintain the proposed, approved, and amended versions of the Plan 

on its internet website. 

3. Collaborate with the County and local stakeholders on planning and 

implementation of efforts to address homelessness within the County of Tehama 

through continued staff participation on Continuum of Care committees, 

including the Continuum of Care Executive Council, the Housing and Homeless 

Stakeholders’ Collaborative and the Continuum of Care General Collaborative. 

4. Provide ongoing oversight of fiscal and programmatic management of local 

administration of HHAP-6 funds. 

5. Oversee selection and/or recruitment of local subrecipients for HHAP-6 funds, 

including development of funding solicitations and evaluation of proposals 

submitted for consideration. 

6. Authorize any HHAP-6 Change Requests necessary to the efficient utilization of 

HHAP-6 funds in furtherance of the goals and strategies set forth in the Plan. 

7. Review fiscal reports regarding use and expenditure of HHAP-6 funds submitted to 

the Tehama County Health Services Agency and the Continuum of Care 

Executive Council by The Vitality Project on a quarterly basis. 

8. Review fiscal and programmatic reports prepared by The Vitality Project for 

submission to the State of California for the HHAP-6 program. 

9. During the entire term of this agreement, be construed to be an independent 

contractor and nothing in this agreement is intended nor shall be construed to 

create an employer-employee relationship, a joint venture relationship, or to allow 

County to exercise discretion or control over the professional manner in which 

Continuum of Care shall be provided in a manner consistent with the professional 

standards applicable to such services. The sole interest of the County is to ensure 

that the services shall be rendered and performed in a competent, efficient, and 

satisfactory manner. Continuum of Care shall be fully responsible for payment of 

all taxes due to the State of California or the Federal government, which would 

be withheld from compensation of Continuum of Care, if Continuum of Care were 

a County employee. County shall not be liable for deductions for any amount for 

any purpose from Continuum of Care's compensation. Continuum of Care shall 

not be eligible for coverage under County’s Workers Compensation Insurance 

Plan, nor shall Continuum of Care be eligible for any other County benefit.  

The Vitality Project hereby agrees to: 

1. Uphold, participate in, and comply with the actions, roles, and responsibilities of 

each eligible applicant and jurisdiction in the region as described in the Plan. The 

Plan is attached to this Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) as Exhibit A.    

2. Coordinate activities necessary to applying for and receiving HHAP-6 funds, 

including coordinating and submitting the Joint Application. 



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  5 

3. Accept disbursement of the combined HHAP-6 award totaling $764,573.27 on 

behalf of the joint applicants. 

4. Coordinate the development of any local funding solicitations necessary to 

selecting and/or recruiting local subrecipients of HHAP-6 funds. 

5. Enter into agreements with local subrecipients of HHAP-6 funds as directed by the 

Continuum of Care Executive Council. 

6. Administer funds to local subrecipients, including fulfilling requests for 

reimbursement of eligible costs and providing technical assistance to 

subrecipients with regards to fiscal and programmatic compliance with HHAP-6 

guidelines. 

7. Verify and retain documentation of HHAP-6 uses and expenditures as required by 

the State of California and the HHAP-6 program. 

8. Prepare annual financial statements audited by an independent certified 

accountant (CPA). 

9. Respond appropriately to any program-specific audit or monitoring requests from 

the HHAP-6 program, the County, or any other relevant authority. 

10. Generate quarterly fiscal reports regarding use and expenditure of HHAP-6 funds 

and submit these to both Tehama County Health Services Agency and the 

Continuum of Care Executive Council on a quarterly basis.  

11. Generate and submit all fiscal and programmatic reports required by the HHAP-6 

program, submitting the same to both the Tehama County Health Services 

Agency and the Continuum of Care Executive Council for review prior to 

submission to the funding program. 

12. During the entire term of this agreement, be construed to be an independent 

contractor and nothing in this agreement is intended nor shall be construed to 

create an employer-employee relationship, a joint venture relationship, or to allow 

County to exercise discretion or control over the professional manner in which The 

Vitality Project performs the services which are the subject matter of this 

agreement; provided always, however, that the services to be provided by The 

Vitality Project shall be provided in a manner consistent with the professional 

standards applicable to such services. The sole interest of the County is to ensure 

that the services shall be rendered and performed in a competent, efficient, and 

satisfactory manner. The Vitality Project shall be fully responsible for payment of all 

taxes due to the State of California or the Federal government, which would be 

withheld from compensation of The Vitality Project, if The Vitality Project were a 

County employee. County shall not be liable for deductions for any amount for 

any purpose from The Vitality Project’s compensation. The Vitality Project shall not 

be eligible for coverage under County’s Workers Compensation Insurance Plan, 

nor shall The Vitality Project be eligible for any other County benefit. 

 

This agreement shall commence upon the date signed and shall terminate on October 

1, 2029 or until all obligations to the HHAP-6 program have been fulfilled. 

  



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  6 

By signature below, the undersigned representatives for each partner entity confirm that 

they are authorized to enter into this agreement on behalf of their respective agency 

and agree to the terms set forth herein. 

 

 

For the Tehama County Continuum of Care: 

 

 

 _____________________________________________________________   __________  

Johnna Jones, Chairperson, Tehama CoC Executive Council  Date 

 

 

 

  



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  7 

By signature below, the undersigned representatives for each partner entity confirm that 

they are authorized to enter into this agreement on behalf of their respective agency 

and agree to the terms set forth herein.   

 

 

For the County of Tehama: 

 

 

 _____________________________________________________________   __________   

Matt Hansen, Chairman, Tehama County Board of Supervisors  Date 

 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

 _____________________________________________________________   __________   

  Date 

 

  



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  8 

By signature below, the undersigned representatives for each partner entity confirm that 

they are authorized to enter into this agreement on behalf of their respective agency 

and agree to the terms set forth herein.   

 

 

For The Vitality Project: 

 

 

 _____________________________________________________________   __________  

Andrea Curry, Executive Director, The Vitality Project  Date 

 

 

 

  



 
 

Tehama HHAP-6 Memorandum of Understanding  9 

EXHIBIT A: REGIONALLY COORDINATED HOMELESSNESS ACTION PLAN 

 

 



1 
 

 

 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (RCHAP) 

Tehama HHAP-6 | August 7, 2025 
 
 
 
 
Green tables describe the steps required to complete each section and provide guidance on how to 
use the template and/or minimum requirements. 
 
Blue tables capture the application data and mirror the data fields in the online application portal. 
 

 

Table of Contents 
3.a.1. Outreach and Site Coordination .......................................................................................... 2 

3.a.2. Siting and Use of Available Land .......................................................................................... 4 

3.a.3. Development of Shelter, Interim and Permanent Housing Options ........................................ 5 

3.a.4. Coordination of and Connection to Service Delivery ............................................................. 7 

3.a.5. Policies for Addressing Encampments ................................................................................. 8 

3.a.6. Housing Element Compliance ........................................................................................... 11 

3.a.7. Housing Element Implementation ..................................................................................... 12 

3.a.8. Prohousing Designation .................................................................................................... 12 

3.a.9. Housing Law Violations ..................................................................................................... 13 

3.a.10. Surplus Land .................................................................................................................. 14 

3.a.11. Annual Progress Report ................................................................................................... 14 

3.b. System Performance Measures Improvement Plan ............................................................... 15 

 

  



2 
 

3.a. Regional Partners’ Roles and Responsibilities 

3.a.1. Outreach and Site Coordination 

Guidance  

Each Eligible Applicant in the region must describe how they currently, or will begin to, 
coordinate comprehensive outreach to individuals experiencing, and at risk of experiencing, 
homelessness in the region, and coordinate on siting of services, shelters, and interim and 
permanent housing in the region.  
  

Eligible Applicant Describe roles and responsibilities in outreach to individuals 
experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, homelessness in the 
region, and in coordination on siting of services, shelters, and 
interim and permanent housing in the region 

Tehama County CoC The Tehama County Continuum of Care (Tehama CoC) 
coordinates planning and capacity building activities and 
provides technical assistance to support its member 
organizations conducting outreach, shelter, interim housing, and 
permanent housing in the region.  

Examples of this include:  

1) Partnering with Poor and the Homeless Tehama County 
Coalition (PATH) to implement PATH Street Outreach Services 
(SOS), the county’s first Street Outreach program using ESG-CV 
funds in 2021,  

2) Facilitating collaborative planning process and providing 
technical assistance on development of the PATH Plaza 
Navigation Center (PPNC), the county’s first-ever year-round 
emergency shelter,  

3) Providing grant writing and technical assistance on a 
Homekey 1.0 project that preserved and increased transitional 
housing beds and laid the groundwork for even further 
expansion of interim housing opportunities,  

4) Facilitating the process for development of the Update to the 
10-Year Plan to End Homelessness in 2024-25 to ensure 
continued momentum towards increasing positive outcomes 
within the system after having met many of the goals in the 
original 10-Year Plan, development of which was led by Tehama 
County in 2018-19, 

5) Supporting and building capacity for significant expansion of 
outreach and day shelter services being provided by First 
Christian Church of Corning in historically underserved South 
Tehama County through providing concrete support and 
technical assistance with programmatic and fiscal infrastructure 
development and facilitating a strategic partnership with sister 
project PPNC, and  



3 
 

6) Serving in the role of Project Director for Rural Indoor 
Objectives (RIO), a collaborative Encampment Resolution (ERF-
3-R) project that is leveraging the strengths of local nonprofits, 
governmental agencies and affordable housing developers to 
resolve the county’s largest and longest-standing 
encampments. 

Pursuant to recent direction from the collaboration of local 
stakeholders Tehama CoC serves and HHAP-6 state priorities 
around addressing inflow to homelessness, Tehama CoC is 
currently working with its partners to identify sources of support 
for expanding homelessness prevention activities, designing 
pathways to outreach to individuals and households at risk of 
homelessness and establishing data-driven practices for 
assessing risk and prioritizing households for homelessness 
prevention services. 

Tehama County Tehama County is active in the local system for addressing 
homelessness as both a direct services provider and a leading 
partner on strategic planning, capacity building, and interim and 
permanent housing development.  

Through the Tehama County Health Services Agency, the county 
provides direct services to people experiencing and at risk of 
homelessness through: 

1) A mobile health clinic that provides on-location services, 
including screenings for and immediate connections to medical, 
behavioral health and/or substance use recovery services 
(including medication assisted treatment) to people 
experiencing unsheltered or sheltered homelessness on a 
weekly basis, either at PATH Plaza Navigation Center (PPNC) or 
from another location in the community convenient to 
individuals who are currently unsheltered,  

2) Traditional street outreach services that pair distribution of 
basic needs supplies (water, food, Narcan, hygiene supplies, 
etc.) with connections to services offered by TCHSA (medical, 
behavioral health, substance use recovery) and services offered 
by community partners, including shelter and housing services,  

3)  Mobile crisis services for behavioral/mental health, available 
24/7/365, that support people experiencing a mental health or 
substance use crisis through providing intervention, de-
escalation and relief to people wherever they are, including 
unsheltered situations, the physical office location for which is 
co-located within the PPNC facility, and 

4) Supportive services, including case management and 
behavioral health services, for tenants in Permanent Supportive 
Housing (PSH) units. 

5) Tehama County administers its own allocation of formula 
Permanent Local Housing Allocation (PLHA) funds as well as the 



4 
 

3.a.2. Siting and Use of Available Land 

Guidance  
Each Eligible Applicant in the region must describe how they will coordinate efforts to identify and 
promote use of available land for the production of interim or permanent housing.   
  

allocations for the Cities of Red Bluff and Tehama. These funds 
are currently being used to support PATH Plaza Navigation 
Center operations and supportive services for the PSH units 
developed with No Place Like Home (NPLH) funds. 

As a lead collaborative partner: 

1) TCHSA coordinated efforts to bring Permanent Supportive 
Housing (PSH) to Tehama County and increase the county’s 
overall stock of permanent affordable housing through 
successfully applying for three No Place Like Home awards 
which have served as the foundations for three projects (one 
placed into service in 2023, two more in planning/development 
phases) that include or will include both NPLH units and 
traditional affordable and/or other PSH units, 

2) Tehama County served as the lead applicant on CDBG, 
CDBG-CV, and Homekey 1.0 funding applications, which 
provided over 80% of the funds needed to acquire and 
develop/rehabilitate both the PPNC facility and the Sale 
Transitional property, both operated by nonprofit partner PATH, 
and  

3) Tehama County actively participates at all levels of CoC, 
including appointing Supervisors to represent the County on the 
CoC’s Executive Council (governing board), designating county 
staff to participate on the CoC General Collaborative 
committee, the Housing and Homelessness Stakeholders’ 
Collaborative (HHSC) and all working groups focusing on priority 
areas identified as part of the 10-Year Plan to End Homelessness 
and recent Update to the 10-Year Plan. 

4) Under the leadership of their MHSA Coordinator, TCHSA 
coordinates and facilitates the Community Partners Resources 
(CPR) Meeting, a monthly convening designed to promote and 
strengthen cross-sector collaboration by connecting case 
management and housing staff, mainstream services staff, and 
health care providers with one another and offering a space for 
informal and innovative conversations. 

Eligible Applicant Describe how the Eligible Applicant will coordinate efforts 
to identify and promote use of available land for the 
production of interim or permanent housing in the region 

Tehama County CoC Tehama CoC does not have land use or development that it 
oversees as it is not a local government jurisdiction. Tehama 
CoC does facilitate the Tehama County Housing and Homeless 



5 
 

3.a.3. Development of Shelter, Interim and Permanent Housing Options 

Guidance  
Each Eligible Applicant in the region must describe how they are engaging housing developers 
working in the region, including developers of permanent supportive housing, to coordinate the 
financing of interim and permanent housing. 
 
Eligible Applicant Describe your engagement with housing developers, 

including developers of permanent supportive housing, to 
coordinate the financing of interim and permanent housing  

Tehama County CoC When a housing developer has been identified as a project 
partner by a local provider, Tehama CoC is available to assist 
with coordinating project funding and financing by providing 
local data needed for funding applications or developing 
prospectuses for potential investors, identifying potential 
sources of funding/financing, including those available through 
the CoC and those available through other sources, providing 
information on CES, where its use will be required, and 
answering any other relevant developer questions.  

Tehama CoC may also engage with housing developers 
interested in working within the region to discuss local housing 
needs and to provide connections to local community partners. 

Tehama County Tehama County Health Services Agency (TCHSA), has served, 

Stakeholders’ Collaborative (HHSC), which has working groups 
implementing the 2024 10-Year Plan to End Homelessness 
goals. These goals include helping to streamline affordable 
housing development as is stated in the roles and 
responsibilities for land use and development for the County 
and Cities. In this way, Tehama CoC supports the work of the 
County and Cities and advocates for land use and development 
practices that facilitate the production of affordable housing 
and community facilities.   

 

Tehama County Tehama County will adhere to all State laws and regulations 
regarding Housing Elements, affordable housing and 
community facilities, and zoning. In addition, as outlined in the 
2024 Update to the Tehama County 10-Year Plan to End 
Homelessness, the County will support bringing infrastructure 
to vacant parcels of land via grant applications with developers, 
provide transparency about local regulations, and shepherd 
projects through the planning and building permitting 
processes. This may include, but not be limited to, applying for 
the State Affordable Housing and Community Sustainable 
Communities Program (AHSC) and Infill Infrastructure Grant 
Program (IIG) funds. 

 



6 
 

and continues to serve, as the county’s foremost leader in 
coordinating efforts to develop permanent supportive housing 
(PSH), projects for which typically included both PSH units and 
traditional affordable permanent housing units.  TCHSA’s work 
in this area has resulted in development of a 32-unit permanent 
affordable housing project in the City of Corning that was 
placed into service in 2023 and has been key to the ongoing 
work of developing two additional projects in Red Bluff that will 
include a combined total of 87 units of permanent affordable 
housing in the relatively near future.  

Each of these projects has included identifying and engaging 
with developers and contributing to the efforts of these 
developers to obtain funding and financing far beyond that 
which TCHSA could offer through its respective No Place Like 
Home awards. These efforts have included applying for funds 
through, among others, Federal Low Income Housing Tax 
Credits (LIHTC), Multifamily Housing Program (MHP), HOME 
Investment Partnerships Program (HOME), Affordable Housing 
& Sustainable Communities (AHSC), and Homekey+. TCHSA 
and their Housing Consultant have played an active roles in 
development of these applications, including providing area-
specific data, facilitating connections between developers and 
local community partners, and where needed, hosting public 
hearings and conducting community outreach.  

While neither required engagement with housing developers, 
Tehama County also played important roles in supporting 
development of two interim housing projects, both of which 
involved significant work coordinating project financing: 

As part of development of the PATH Plaza Navigation Center, 
Tehama County served as the lead applicant on CDBG and 
CDBG-CV funding applications, coordinated delegation of 
CDBG-CV funds from cities within the county to the project, 
administering CDBG/CDBG-CV funds locally and 
providing/supporting the provision of project management, 
contracting, and labor compliance services for the project.  

Tehama County acted as the lead applicant on the Homekey 
1.0 project that made it possible for nonprofit partner PATH to 
preserve and expand transitional housing availability through 
acquiring a property that included one large house that PATH 
had been leasing for over a decade but was slated to lose when 
the property was placed on the market and two additional 
houses on the surrounding property. This acquisition in 2021 
more than doubled transitional housing beds in Tehama 
County. Tehama County has continued to contribute to further 
development of this property and its capacity for providing 
interim housing through utilizing Behavioral Health Bridge 
Housing (BHBH) funds to support replacement of a 
manufactured unit on the property that had unforeseen 



7 
 

structural issues and placement of additional manufactured 
units on the property. 

Additionally, where a project site is to be located in an 
unincorporated area of the county, Tehama County’s Planning 
and Building Departments engage with developers and/or other 
project partners to provide information on zoning, building 
codes, infrastructure needs, and related topics. 

3.a.4. Coordination of and Connection to Service Delivery 

Guidance  
Each Eligible Applicant in the region must describe how they are coordinating, connecting, and 
delivering services - including Mental Health Services Act or Behavioral Health Services Act within 
the region - to individuals experiencing homelessness, or at risk of experiencing homelessness. 
 

Eligible Applicant Describe how the Eligible Applicant is coordinating, 
connecting, and delivering services - including Mental 
Health Services Act or Behavioral Health Services Act within 
the region - to individuals experiencing homelessness, or at 
risk of experiencing homelessness. 

Tehama County CoC Tehama CoC plays a significant role in coordinating services, 
connecting individuals experiencing or at risk of homelessness 
to services, and supporting the delivery of services. The CoC 
conducts strategic planning and capacity building activities, 
which may include administering all or part of the funding 
necessary for its member organizations to implement service 
activities, provides technical assistance to service providers on 
programmatic, fiscal, and grant compliance topics, and serves 
as system administrator for the HMIS and Coordinated Entry 
System, through which people experiencing homelessness are 
referred to housing services, including shelter, interim housing, 
rapid rehousing and permanent supportive housing. The CoC 
also serves as a hub for the development and implementation 
of collaborative projects and facilitates collaborative efforts to 
identify gaps and assess service needs throughout the county. 

Tehama County Tehama County has a strong foundation of collaboration among 
its departments. Staff in each department know who and how 
to refer people to services they may need. This collaboration 
includes, but is not limited to, the Tehama County Health 
Services Agency (TCHSA), the Tehama County Department of 
Social Services (TCDSS), and the Tehama County Community 
Action Agency (TCCAA), a nonprofit organization under TCDSS. 
Tehama County administers the Mental Health Services Act 
(MHSA) Full-Service Partnership program, which provides 
wraparound supportive services for people who have been 
diagnosed with a severe mental illness. As described above, 
Tehama County operates a mobile health clinic that serves 
people experiencing sheltered and unsheltered homelessness, 



8 
 

 

3.a.5. Policies for Addressing Encampments 

Guidance  
Each Eligible Applicant must also confirm whether they have a current and formal policy to address 
encampments that complies with the California Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH) 
Guidance on Addressing Encampments.  
 

• If the policy fully complies with the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments, the 
Eligible Applicant must link to or upload the policy.  

• If the policy partially complies with the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments, the 
Eligible Applicant must describe what elements of the policy comply, and how. They also 
must link to or upload the policy.  

• If any Eligible Applicant does not have a current and formal policy to address 
encampments, they must describe their existing efforts to address encampments, actively 
commit to following the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments and identify a 
specific timeline by which they will adopt such a policy. 

 
 
Eligible Applicants without a current and formal policy to address encampments that fully or 
partially complies with the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments must complete the 
following:  

Eligible 
Applicant 

Describe existing efforts to address 
encampments 
 

Does the 
Eligible 
Applicant 
actively 
commit to 
adopting a 

Provide a specific 
timeline, including 
dates, for future 
adoption of formal 
policies that comply 

offers mobile crisis response, and provides ongoing supportive 
services for tenants in permanent supportive housing.   

The county currently has one permanent supportive housing 
project in service, which was constructed using MHSA funds, 
No Place Like Home funds. TCHSA staff currently conduct 
tenant identification for this project using the Coordinated 
Entry System (CES) including connecting prospective tenants 
to behavioral health assessments to determine eligibility when 
a prospective tenant is not already being served by TCHSA.  

TCHSA will work closely with the CoC, its member 
organizations, and other stakeholders within the housing and 
homeless response sectors, as it develops its Behavioral 
Health Services Act (BHSA) Integrated Plan. 

Both TCHSA and TCDSS staff are familiar with and refer to 211 
Tehama for both Coordinated Entry and health and human 
services. The services of 211 Tehama include providing 
information and referrals for low-cost and no-cost health and 
human services in the region and serving as the primary entry 
point for the regional CES. 



9 
 

policy that 
complies with 
the Cal ICH 
Guidance on 
Addressing 
Encampment? 

with the Cal ICH 
Guidance on 
Addressing 
Encampments. 

Tehama 
County 
CoC 

Tehama CoC serves as the Project 
Director and Administrative Entity for 
Rural Indoor Objectives (RIO), a 
collaborative Encampment Resolution 
(ERF-3-R) project that is leveraging the 
strengths of local nonprofits, 
governmental agencies and affordable 
housing developers to resolve the 
county’s largest and longest-standing 
encampments. To date, the RIO Team 
has worked together and in 
cooperation with additional community 
partners to facilitate resolution of four 
of the five RIO-prioritized 
encampments, using procedures that 
meet, and in some cases exceed, the 
requirements of the Cal ICH Guidance 
on Addressing Encampments as well 
as the Model Ordinance released by 
the Governor’s Office earlier this year. 
These encampment resolutions were 
conducted with no less than 48 hours 
notice to encampment residents 
(typically 14-21 days). Poor and the 
Homeless Tehama County Coalition 
(PATH), whose Street Outreach 
Services (SOS) team and Case 
Managers have established 
relationships with many encampment 
residents and whose Day Shelter, 
Overnight Shelter, and Rapid 
Rehousing programs, all of which are 
provided at the PATH Plaza Navigation 
Center  (PPNC), prioritize individuals 
exiting the prioritized encampment for 
immediate access to services, serves 
as the primary service provider partner 
in encampment resolutions. 
Clear lines of communication have 
been established between PATH and 
Red Bluff Police Department (RBPD), 
the local governmental agency that has 
coordinated most of these resolution 
efforts, allowing these partners to work 
in tandem to ensure that all persons 

Yes Tehama County CoC and 
Tehama County will work 
together to develop and 
adopt formal policies by 
August 2026 that comply 
with the Cal ICH 
Guidance on Addressing 
Homelessness. Venues 
for development of the 
policies may include, but 
not be limited to, the 
Regional Coordination 
Meetings and the 
County-City ad hoc 
committee meetings.  



10 
 

exiting each encampment have been 
connected to services and CES 
throughout the process. PATH keeps 
RBPD and other governmental partners 
updated on available shelter beds in 
near real-time, and governmental 
partners keep service providers up to 
date on notifications served and 
planned resolution dates. A process for 
offering storage of belongings for 
encampment residents has been 
established. Receptacles for such 
storage are provided to encampment 
residents in advance of resolution 
dates and are picked up and 
transported by a service provider ahead 
of encampment resolution, however, 
because the partners have discovered 
that most encampment residents 
prefer to keep their belongings with 
them rather than use this option, they 
have incorporated offering 
encampment residents collapsible 
wagons, as well, so that they can easily 
transport their own belongings if they 
wish. Once encampment residents 
have removed the belongings they wish 
to keep and have vacated the 
encampment area, a team made up of 
multiple governmental agencies, 
including Tehama County Probation, 
coordinate clean-up and restoration 
services. In cases in which the state of 
an area is determined to pose a fire 
risk, Red Bluff Fire Department (RBFD) 
coordinates fire risk mitigation 
activities.  

The experiences of the RIO Team, 
including lessons learned, will inform 
the development of a collaborative 
Encampment Resolution Policy. 

Tehama 
County 

To date, most encampment resolution 
activities have been conducted on 
public property within the City of Red 
Bluff. Participation in these activities by 
Tehama County has generally been 
limited that of Tehama County 
Probation in helping to coordinate and 
conduct clean-up activities, although 

Yes Tehama County and 
Tehama County CoC will 
work together to develop 
and adopt formal 
policies by August 2026 
that comply with the Cal 
ICH Guidance on 
Addressing 



11 
 

Tehama County Health Services 
Agency (TCHSA) is active as a street 
outreach provider and as a provider of 
medical, behavioral health and 
substance use recovery services, to 
which many individuals exiting 
encampments are referred. As a direct 
services provider, TCHSA is an active 
partner in the RIO project and attends 
monthly RIO Team meetings. As 
encampments within Red Bluff City 
limits continue, it is anticipated that 
unsheltered individuals may establish 
more encampments in unincorporated 
areas of the county within the 
jurisdiction of county agencies. The 
relevant agencies will be included in 
conversations around development of 
the collaborative Encampment 
Resolution Policy as they commence. 

Homelessness. Venues 
for development of the 
policies may include, but 
not be limited to, the 
Regional Coordination 
Meetings and the 
County-City ad hoc 
committee meetings. 

 

3.a.6. Housing Element Compliance 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must indicate they have an adopted 
housing element that HCD has found substantially compliant with Housing Element Law, or if not 
compliant, provide a timeline for relevant milestones to achieve compliance.  
 
Milestones include but are not limited to the dates by which Eligible Applicants will: submit revised 
drafts that address all outstanding findings for HCD’s review, submit required rezones for HCD’s 
review, adopt the housing element, and anticipate final review and approval by HCD.  
 
Example timeline and milestones: 
8/15/2025: Jurisdiction provides revised draft addressing issues from last findings letter for HCD 
review and public posting. 
10/15/2025: HCD completes review of draft and determines there are no remaining issues, and the 
draft will be compliant once rezones are adopted, and housing element is adopted. 
12/15/2025: Jurisdiction adopts housing element and required rezones and submits documentation 
to HCD. 
2/15/2026: HCD completes review of adopted element and rezones to confirm they meet what was 
proposed in draft.  If adopted element and rezones meet requirements, jurisdiction is found 
compliant. 
 
Eligible Applicants within the region must have an adopted housing element that HCD has found 
substantially compliant to receive their remainder HHAP 6 disbursement. 
 

Large 
City or 

Is this Eligible 
Applicant's 

If not compliant, provide a timeline for all relevant milestones to 
achieve compliance (refer to Guidance and Example timeline and 



12 
 

 

3.a.7. Housing Element Implementation 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must indicate if they are up to date 
on housing element program commitments, or if not, they must provide a timeline and plan to 
implement past due programs. 
 

 

3.a.8. Prohousing Designation 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must identify their Prohousing 
Designation status. 
 
Large City or 
county Eligible 
Applicant 
 

Current Prohousing Designation 
Status 

For Eligible Applicants that have not yet 
applied, list the  Prohousing Policies (as 
described in the Prohousing application) 
that they have adopted or plan to adopt 
in the future. 

county 
Eligible 
Applicant 

Housing 
Element 
Compliant? 

milestones for required level of detail).  
 

Tehama 
County 

No 6/9/2025: County receives 2nd letter from HCD.  

7/1/2025-8/1/2025: Consultant revises HCD submittal draft Housing 
Element.  

8/4/2025-8/8/2025: County reviews revised Housing Element. 

8/11/2025-8/17/2025: Release draft to the public for seven days.  

8/18/2025: Submit 3rd draft to HCD for 60-day review.  

8/2025-9/2025: Prepare addendum or exemption.  

10/2025: County receives 3rd letter from HCD.  

11/2025: Planning Commission recommendation.  

12/2025: Board of Supervisors readoption.  

12/2025: Submit readopted Housing Element to HCD for 60-day 
review.  

 

Large City or 
county Eligible 
Applicant 
 

Has this Eligible Applicant 
implemented all programs in their 
adopted Housing Element on the 
timelines identified therein? 

If not, provide a specific timeline and 
plan with dates to implement the past 
due programs. 

Tehama County Yes N/A 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-community-development/prohousing-designation-program


13 
 

Tehama County Does not have immediate plans to 
apply for Prohousing Designation. 

1H - Zoning or other land use designation 
methods to allow for residential or mixed 
uses in one or more non-residential zones 
(e.g., commercial, light industrial). 
Qualifying non-residential zones do not 
include open space or substantially 
similar zones. 

2A - Establishment of ministerial 
approval processes for multiple housing 
types, including, for example, single-
family, multifamily and mixed-use 
housing. 

2E - Absence or elimination of public 
hearings for projects consistent with 
zoning and the general plan. 

3G - Establishment of pre-approved or 
prototype plans for missing middle 
housing types (e.g., duplexes, triplexes, 
and fourplexes) in low-density, single-
family residential areas. 

8 - Other policies that involve meaningful 
actions towards Affirmatively Furthering 
Fair Housing outside of those required 
pursuant to Government Code sections 
65583, subdivision (c)(10), and 8899.50, 
including, but not limited to, outreach 
campaigns, updated zoning codes, and 
expanded access to financing support. 

 

3.a.9. Housing Law Violations 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicant in the region must identify whether they have any 
potential or actual violations under investigation by HCD’s Housing Accountability Unit or the 
Attorney General’s Housing Justice Team. If any Eligible Applicant has a potential or actual violation 
under investigation, they must provide a timeline and plan to resolve the issue. 
 
Eligible Applicant Does this Eligible Applicant have 

any potential or actual housing 
law violations with HCD’s 
Housing Accountability Unit or 
the Attorney General’s Housing 
Justice Team? 

If yes, provide a specific timeline and 
plan with dates to resolve the issue. 

Tehama County No N/A 
 



14 
 

3.a.10. Surplus Land 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must identify whether they have 
made a central inventory of all surplus land and all lands in excess of their foreseeable needs as 
required by Government Code section 54230.  
 

 

3.a.11. Annual Progress Report 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must indicate they have submitted a 
timely and complete annual progress report for, at a minimum, the previous two years. Eligible 
Applicants can check their annual progress report status here: Annual Progress Reports - Data 
Dashboard and Downloads | California Department of Housing and Community Development 
 
Eligible Applicant Has this Eligible Applicant submitted a timely and complete 

annual progress report for at a minimum, the past two years? 

Tehama County Yes 
 

  

Eligible Applicant Has this Eligible Applicant made a 
central inventory of all surplus 
land and all lands in excess of 
their foreseeable needs as 
required by Government Code 
section 54230? 

If not, the Eligible Applicant must 
provide a specific timeline and plan 
with dates to create such an inventory. 

Tehama County Has a central inventory. N/A 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-community-development/housing-element-implementation-and-apr-dashboard
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-community-development/housing-element-implementation-and-apr-dashboard


15 
 

3.b. System Performance Measures Improvement Plan 
Available Funding Sources in the Region 

If applicable, list any funding sources mentioned in Section IV.A.3.b.ii. of the HHAP 6 NOFA that are 
not available in the region within the grant term (FY24/25-FY28/29). 

Funds from the following sources mentioned in Section IV.A.3.b.ii of the HHAP-6 NOFA are not 
available in the region within the grant term: Multifamily Housing Program, Housing for a Healthy 
California Program, National Housing Trust Fund, HOME Investment Partnerships Act.  

Key Actions to Improve the Region's CA SPMs 

Steps to complete this section 
The System Performance Measures Improvement plan documents all the Key Actions the regional 
partners are taking to improve their homelessness  CA System Performance Measures (SPMs) listed 
in Section IV.A.3.b.i. of the HHAP 6 NOFA. The plan may also include the Key Actions of small 
jurisdictions and/or tribal governments in the region that elect to engage and collaborate in the 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan.  
 
All items currently being funded through HHAP Rounds 1 through 5, as well as all activities 
proposed to be funded through HHAP 6, must be included as Key Actions in the System 
Performance Measures Improvement Plan. Each regional partner must also include the Key 
Actions they are taking beyond HHAP 6 funding to address homelessness. These Key Actions must 
include how each regional partner is improving the region’s CA SPMs through use of local, state, and 
federal funds. 
 
The System Performance Measures Improvement Plan must include: 

• At least one Key Action related to reducing CA SPM: “The number of people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness” 

• At least one Key Action related to increasing CA SPM “the number of people exiting 
homelessness into Permanent Housing,” and 

• At least one Key Action with a specific focus on reducing first time instances of 
homelessness for those exiting institutional settings, including, but not limited to jails, 
prisons, and hospitals.  

 
Each Key Action must be described in clear, specific terms and must do the following: 

1. Identify the CA SPM(s) that the Key Action will improve (you may choose more than one SPM). 
2. Describe how the Key Action will improve the CA SPM(s). 
3. Identify the lead entity and collaborating entities partnering to achieve the Key Action. 

Collaborating entity/ies may include a group, organization, or jurisdiction within your region 
working to address or improve the system performance measure. This can be another 
participating Eligible Applicant, a system partner, or any organization actively participating in 
the Key Action. 

4. Provide the target date for milestones and completion of the Key Action. 
5. Provide a clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured. 
6. Identify the funding source(s) for the Key Action. 

a. Note: At a minimum, all funding sources listed in Section IV.A.3.b.ii. of the HHAP 6 
NOFA, excluding any that are unavailable to the region within the grant term 
(FY24/25-FY28/29), must be identified as funding sources for at least one Key Action 
within the System Performance Measures Improvement Plan. 

7. Describe how the funding source(s) will contribute to the achievement of the Key Action. 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


16 
 

b. Note: For HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, include the eligible use category or 
categories as applicable. 

8. Describe how the Key Action will address system performance disparities and ensure racial 
and gender equity in at least one of the following areas: Service Delivery, Housing 
Placements, Housing Retention, Changes to procurement, or other means of affirming racial 
and ethnic groups that are overrepresented among residents experiencing homelessness 
have equitable access to housing and services. 

Key Actions 

Guidance  
The tables below are formatted as “repeating content”. To add a Key Action, click anywhere in any 
table to reveal the content border, then click the (+) that appears on the right-hand margin of the 
border. This will not work if the template is open in a web browser; the template must be open in 
the Microsoft Word application. To ensure Key Actions may be easily referenced in later parts of the 
regional application template, applicants can refer to the # provided. E.g., Key Action 1, Key Action 
2, etc.  
 
To add additional rows to any given table, click into the last row of the table, then press “tab” on 
your keyboard. 
 

Key Action 1.  

Key Action  

Sustain Rapid Rehousing and Deposit Assistance Programs 

Support and sustain existing programs that provide rental assistance and/or deposit assistance to 
assist people in obtaining and retaining permanent housing. Encourage the inclusion of ongoing 
Housing Case Management to promote stability in housing, and encourage expanding eligibility to 
include households in need of Housing Case Management only (e.g., households with Housing 
Choice Vouchers, households with their own financial resources, etc.) 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA SPM 

CA SPM 3 Assistance with initial housing costs makes it possible for households experiencing 
homelessness to obtain permanent housing. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

PATH, Empower Tehama, Nation’s Finest, PneumaCare, Tehama County Department of Social 
Services (TCDSS) 

 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Successfully assist at least 250 households in obtaining permanent housing 06/30/2028 



17 
 

Of the 250 households to obtain permanent housing, at least 15 will have 
accessed RRH through Case Manager(s) serving South County/Corning through 
the new partnership between PATH and the FCCC Day Shelter.  

06/30/2028 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

The goal to assist at least 250 households obtain permanent housing will be measured by ongoing 
monitoring of HMIS Data Element 3.20 Housing Move-in Date for heads of household, with a date on 
or after the grant period start date and on or before the target date for milestone  

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the Key 
Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

ERF, HHAP-5, 
HHAP-6, ESG, 
CalAIM (Medi-Cal 
program) 

Funding will be used to support direct 
financial assistance to participant 
households and staffing operations costs to 
provide Housing Case Management. 

Rapid Rehousing/Rental 
Subsidies 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery The recent expansion of Day Shelter services in South County 
includes on-location Case Management provided by PATH, who is 
also the county’s largest RRH provider. This expansion has 
increased access to RRH for individuals experiencing 
homelessness in historically underserved South County, which is 
also home to the county’s largest proportion of Hispanic/Latino 
people, including monolingual Spanish-speaking households. 

Changes to procurement Tehama CoC has recently integrated Language Access Plan 



18 
 

 

Key Action 2.  

Key Action  

Develop and Maintain Homelessness Prevention Programs 

Expand existing Rental Assistance programs to include assisting individuals and families at risk of 
experiencing with financial assistance with rental arrears, current rent and 1-2 months of rent moving 
forward to prevent entries into homelessness. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 2 People at risk of becoming homeless for the first time will be 
prevented from becoming homeless through assistance with 
retaining their housing or relocating to a more appropriate unit. 

CA SPM 5 People at risk of becoming homeless after having exited to housing 
will be prevented from becoming homeless again through 
assistance with retaining their housing or relocating to a more 
appropriate unit. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County 

Collaborating entity/ies  

NPLH, AHSC, LIHTC, Homekey+, ERF, Housing Developers, Tehama CoC 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Prevent at least 50 households at risk of homelessness from becoming 
homeless 

06/30/2028 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

The goal to prevent at least households from entering homelessness will be measured by ongoing 
monitoring of HMIS Data Element W5 Housing Assessment at Exit, with response of 1/”Able to 
maintain the housing they had at project entry” or 2/”Moved to new housing unit” for Heads of 
households denoting success. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

requirements into subgrantee contracts and actively encourages 
providers to recruit and hire bi-lingual (Spanish/English) staff. 



19 
 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

 
Key Action 3.  

Key Action  

Build New Affordable/Permanent Supportive Housing 

Two affordable housing projects, both of which include NPLH PSH units as well as either traditional 
affordable housing units or affordable housing units for special needs populations, are currently in 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the Key 
Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

HHAP-6 

 
Funding will support the cost of direct 
financial assistance to households at risk of 
homelessness and staffing/operating costs 
of providing case management. 

Prevention and Diversion 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Changes to procurement Tehama CoC has recently integrated Language Access Plan 
requirements into subgrantee contracts and actively encourages 
providers to recruit and hire bi-lingual (Spanish/English) staff. 

Other means of affirming racial 
and ethnic groups that are 
overrepresented among 
residents experiencing 
homelessness have equitable 
access to housing and 
services. 

Analysis of publicly available data and anecdotal reports from 
people within local Hispanic/Latino communities suggests that 
underrepresentation of Hispanic/Latino people in the local 
unsheltered population is likely due, at least in part, to culturally-
specific protective factors that prevent unsheltered homelessness 
but at the same time often result in severe overcrowding in housing 
units. Assisting households within this community retain their 
housing or, where overcrowding meets the risk definition of 
category 1(iii)(3) of the definition of “at risk of homelessness” in 24 
CFR 578.3, assisting at risk households with obtaining appropriate 
housing will provide a solution to overcrowding that threatens the 
health and safety of extended families in this community. 



20 
 

planning/development phases in Tehama County. Combined, these projects will add more than 80 
units of housing affordable to and/or dedicated to people experiencing or at risk of homelessness. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 3 Increasing the availability of affordable housing in Tehama County, 
and in particular, units dedicated to people experiencing 
homelessness, will allow more people to exit homelessness into 
permanent housing. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

Tehama County 

Collaborating entity/ies  

The City of Red Bluff, Tehama CoC, Northern Valley Catholic Social Service (NVCSS)/Palm 
Communities, and Pacific West Communities (PWC) 

 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Place into service two housing projects with units affordable to and/or 
dedicated to people experiencing or at risk of homelessness. 

March 31, 2028 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

3/31/2028 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Overall success will be measured primarily through observation; outcomes for tenants in at least 26 
units that will utilize CES will be tracked in HMIS/CES. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

NPLH, Homekey+, 
LIHTC, ERF-3-R, AHSC 

NPLH and AHSC funds have been 
secured to support development of 

Choose an item. 



21 
 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Key Action 4.  

Key Action  

Sustain Supportive Services to Permanent Supportive Housing Tenants 

Sustain the supportive services currently being provided at the County’s first-ever PSH project in 
Corning and the implementation of supportive services for PSH tenants at two new projects planned 
for development in Red Bluff.  

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA SPM 

CA SPM 5 Providing supportive services to tenants in PSH will ensure that their needs are met 
and their barriers to housing retention can be addressed to increase the likelihood 
that they will retain their housing long-term.  

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County 

Collaborating entity/ies  

units. Homekey+ funds have been 
applied for and would also support 
development of units. Low Income 
Housing Tax Credits have been awarded 
to incentivize investments in low-income 
affordable units.  ERF-3-R funds have 
been allocated to support ongoing 
supportive services for units to be 
developed with support from Homekey+ 
funds. 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Housing Placements Approximately 42% of the total combined units to be created 
through this Key Action will be developed using NPLH and/or 
Homekey+ funds and will serve people with serious mental health 
disorders and/or behavioral health challenges, a population that is 
both overrepresented in the local unsheltered population and 
underrepresented in successful exits to permanent housing from 
interim housing and rapid rehousing programs. The availability of 
these units will significantly increase access to permanent housing 
for this  historically underserved population. 



22 
 

Tehama CoC, PATH, NVCSS 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Sustain Supportive Services being provided at one existing PSH project 
(Ongoing) 

06/30/2029 

Expand Supportive Services availability to two new PSH projects 03/31/2028 
 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success will be measured through tracking housing retention for PSH projects in HMIS and custom-
built system-level HMIS reports that track individuals’ and households’ pathways through the 
homeless response system and internal records at TCHSA. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

HHAP-1, PLHA, ERF-3-
R 

HHAP-1 funds have been obligated to 
this activity as Operating reserves. 
Portions of PLHA funds allocated to 
Tehama County, City of Red Bluff and/or 
City of Tehama have been obligated 
locally for this use. ERF-3-R funds 
awarded to Tehama CoC have been 
obligated for this use at one of the new 
Red Bluff projects. 

N/A 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 



23 
 

Key Action 5.  

Key Action  

Support Dedicated Housing/Services for Indigenous/Native American Residents 

Support the continued operation of newly-implemented housing program dedicated to serving tribal 
members in Tehama County. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 7.1b The availability of culturally responsive housing services for tribal 
members in Tehama County will reduce the number of these 
individuals experiencing unsheltered homeless. 

CA SPM 7.3 Providing housing services specifically designed to serve 
Indigenous/Native American residents will increase permanent 
housing placements for this population. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

Greenville Rancheria 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery The development of the County’s first PSH project in South County, 
a location that has historically not had equitable access to 
community homeless services and is home to the county’s largest 
proportions of Hispanic/Latino households and Spanish-speaking 
households, and sustaining the supportive services to PSH tenants 
in that project through this key action addresses long-standing 
disparities in equitable access to services. Additionally, TCHSA, 
provider of these supportive services, makes all services available 
in both Spanish and English. 

Housing Placements The existing 15 PSH units to be served through this Key Action were 
developed using MHSA/SNHP and NPLH funds and serve people 
disproportionately impacted by homelessness and serious mental 
health disorders. Likewise, 23 of the additional units to be 
developed and served through this Key Action will be developed 
using NPLH funds and serve the same population, members of 
which are both overrepresented in the local unsheltered population 
and underrepresented in successful exits to permanent housing in 
interim housing programs. 



24 
 

Integrate at least one housing program dedicated to Indigenous/Native 
American people experiencing homelessness into CES, including addition of 
new assessment questions designed to identify potentially eligible 
individuals/households and integration of project-specific Project Queue. 

06/30/2026 

Invite participation from program staff, participants (tribal members with lived 
experience of homelessness/housing insecurity), and other members of 
Greenville tribe in the Working Group with a Focus on Providing Culturally 
Responsive Services for Indigenous/Native American Residents    

06/30/2026 

Connect program staff from tribal-specific program to projects providing 
similar services to the broader population to promote interchange of ideas, 
best practices, and solutions, and to facilitate sharing of resources like forms, 
templates, and procedural documents. (Ongoing) 

06/30/2029 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success in integration of program in CES will be measured through confirming establishment of 
necessary features in CES (CES users, requested assessment questions, Project Queue). Success in 
participation in Working Group will be measured through meeting documentation (sign-in lists, 
meeting notes, etc.). Progress towards connections to community partners will be measured through 
reports from program staff. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

Tribal-specific funding Funding dedicated to and specifically 
designed for use by tribal communities 
will support implantation of program 
designs that meet the unique needs of 
the population being served. 

N/A 



25 
 

 

Key Action 6.  

Key Action  

Sustain Emergency Shelter Operations 

Support continued operation of shelters operating in Tehama County that provide access to 
temporary beds and supportive services, including connections to permanent housing. There are two 
existing emergency shelters operating within the county – Overnight Shelter (ONS) at PATH Plaza 
Navigation Center and the Empower Tehama Domestic Violence Emergency Shelter.  

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 1b Shelter is an effective, albeit temporary, way for a person to go from 
unsheltered to sheltered/housed, thereby reducing the number of 
people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. 

CA SPM 1a Availability of adequate shelter space makes it possible for more 
individuals experiencing homelessness to access services.  

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

PATH, Empower Tehama 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Provide Overnight Shelter to at least 600 individuals 06/30/2029 

Maintain at least 80% combined shelter bed utilization, adjusted for family 
unit beds, measured quarterly 

06/30/2029 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery The Key Action will improve access to housing and services for 
Indigenous and Native American individuals experiencing 
homelessness, which have historically been over-represented in 
the community's unsheltered population and significantly under-
represented in the population of people accessing services. 



26 
 

Success and progress towards number of individuals served and bed utilization goals will be tracked 
through both HMIS records and aggregate reports from Empower Tehama’s HMIS-comparable 
databased for DV survivors. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

ERF-3-R, HHAP-5, 
HHAP-6, ESG, VOCA 

ERF-3-R funds support shelter 
operations at both shelters. Both existing 
shelters have historically received ESG 
funding to support shelter operations, 
although this funding has always been 
competitive annually, and recent 
changes to the way ESG funds are 
administered has reduced the amount of 
ESG funds available for Emergency 
Shelters in Tehama County. HHAP-5 and 
HHAP-6 Operating Subsidies funds have 
been reserved by Tehama CoC to backfill 
reductions in annual ESG funds available 
for Emergency Shelter activities in 
Tehama County. Support for the local DV 
shelter through traditional shelter 
funding is supplemented with VOCA 
funds available through Cal OES. 

Operating Expenses - Interim 
Housing 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery The shelters to be sustained through this Key Action have approved 
Language Access Plans (LAPs), a requirement of subcontracting 
with Tehama CoC and Tehama County, among other funders. Both 
make forms and other program literature available in both English 



27 
 

 
 

Key Action 7.  

Key Action  

Sustain and Expand Transitional/Interim Housing Programs 

Sustain operations of existing Transitional Housing projects and expand capacity through the 
addition of shared housing and/or tiny home units. PATH currently operates Transitional/Interim 
housing through 5 shared houses and plans to expand bed capacity through placement of 
manufactured/tiny homes. Empower Tehama currently provides Transitional Housing to survivors of 
domestic violence through use of two duplex units in a secure, gated location. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 1b Transitional/interim housing can be accessed by people 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness rapidly through Street 
Outreach, Day Shelter or Overnight Shelter, and/or CES which 
results in fewer individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness. 

CA SPM 3 The support provided through Case Management and having a safe, 
temporary place to stay while in Transitional/Interim housing 
provides participants with the support and peace of mind they need 
to stabilize, address barriers, and search for permanent housing.  

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

PATH, Empower Tehama 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Increase overall interim bed capacity by at least 20 beds  12/31/2026 

Maintain at least 80% combined interim bed utilization, adjusted for family 
unit beds, measured quarterly 

06/30/2029 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

and Spanish and actively recruit bi-lingual staff to ensure that 
Spanish-speaking participants have access to in-language 
services. LAPs standards also require organizations to utilize 
approved methods for ensuring that participants who speak other 
languages can participate meaningfully in services, such as 
maintaining access contracts with live-interpretation language 
phone/video services. 



28 
 

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success in increasing transitional/interim housing bed capacity will be measured through 
observation and changes to HMIS Bed Inventories. Success will be measured by ongoing monitoring 
of HMIS utilization/vacancy rates. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

ERF-3-R, HHAP-5, 
HHAP-6, VOCA, CoC 
Program, OVW 

ERF-3-R funds support interim housing 
operations and development of new 
interim housing at PATH. HHAP-5 and 
HHAP-6 Operating Subsidies may 
support ongoing interim housing 
operations. Support for the Transitional 
Housing for DV survivors is supported by 
funding through CoC Program TH/RRH, 
VOCA funds available through Cal OES, 
and OVW Transitional Housing funds 
through a competitive grant through the 
Office on Violence Against Women. 

Operating Expenses - Interim 
Housing 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery Expansion of transitional/interim housing options to include 
individual units (microshelters/tiny homes) will provide options that 
will meet the needs of people who have historically been unwilling 
to accept shelter and/or transitional housing placements in shared 
houses due to anxiety and/or other behavioral health barriers that 
make communal living unsuitable for them. 



29 
 

Key Action 8.  

Key Action  

Sustain Interim Housing Programs for Unaccompanied Homeless Youth 

Sustain recently implemented project that provides interim housing to unaccompanied homeless 
youth aged 18-24 for enrollments of up to 12 months, with ongoing Housing Case Management 
focusing on connecting to permanent housing. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 1b Transitional/interim housing can be accessed by youth experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness rapidly through Street Outreach, Day 
Shelter or Overnight Shelter, and/or CES which results in fewer 
individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness. 

CA SPM 3 Interim housing provides youth with a supported housing 
environment while they stabilize, learn life skills, and address 
barriers to obtaining housing. Ongoing Housing Case Management is 
designed to promote transitions to permanent housing.  

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

Lutheran Social Services of Northern California (LSS) 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Provide interim housing for 4 or more youth  06/30/2026 

At least 75% of youth participants will exit to positive destinations (permanent 
housing and/or supportive programs) 

06/30/2029 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success will be measured by ongoing monitoring of HMIS Program Enrollments and HMIS Data 
Element 3.12 Destination for exiting participants. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 



30 
 

 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Key Action 9.  

Key Action  

Sustain and Expand Day Shelter Services in North and South County 

Day Shelter services are provided 7 days a week in Red Bluff at the PATH Plaza Navigation Center and 
include providing a safe place for people experiencing homelessness to access case management 
and resource navigation services, meals, a clothing closet, mail services, pet food and pet 
vaccinations, laundry, showers and hygiene supplies, and transportation to appointments and 
outside services. These services are co-located on-site with PATH’s Overnight Shelter (ONS) services, 
but are available to people experiencing homelessness regardless of whether they are enrolled in 
ONS.  

Day Shelter services are provided in Corning at First Christian Church of Corning (FCCC) and were 
expanded recently, through a partnership with PATH, to include all of the same services available in 
Red Bluff.  

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 1a In addition to providing life-sustaining basic needs services, Day 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

HHAP-2, HHAP-3, 
HHAP-4, HHAP-5, 
HHAP-6 

Youth set-aside funds through multiple 
rounds of HHAP funds support and/or 
will support operations of this project. 

YSA - Operating Expenses - 
Interim Housing 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery This project exclusively serves unaccompanied homeless youth, a 
subpopulation that has historically not had access to local 
subpopulation-specific services, except where a youth was also a 
former foster youth. Sustaining and supporting this project will 
ensure that this historically underserved group has access to 
services specifically tailored to their unique needs. 



31 
 

Shelter services have proven to be an effective, low-barrier gateway 
to interim and/or permanent housing services for both people 
actively seeking housing services and people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness who have historically been hesitant to 
seek out or accept housing services.  

CA SPM 3 Day Shelters serve as both a gateway to permanent housing services 
and a convenient checkpoint for people seeking or considering 
participation in permanent housing services to maintain ongoing 
contact with case managers, access CES assessments, and even 
work on “low stakes” case plan goals (e.g., obtaining identification 
documents, connecting to healthcare, public benefits, and/or 
employment services, etc.) that build participant self-confidence 
and promote forward momentum, in addition to laying practical 
foundations towards obtaining permanent housing. Since 
implementing Day Shelter services, provider PATH has successfully 
assisted a number of chronically homeless individuals who had all 
but accepted that unsheltered homelessness was their only option 
obtain permanent housing that meets their preferences and needs. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

PATH, First Christian Church of Corning (FCCC) 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates 
for 
milestones  

Provide Day Shelter services to at least 800 individuals at PATH Plaza Day 
Shelter in Red Bluff 

06/30/2028 

Provide Day Shelter services to at least 50 individuals at FCCC Day Shelter in 
Corning 

06/30/2028 

Successfully connect at least 50 households initially engaged at PATH Plaza Day 
Shelter to permanent housing  

06/30/2028 

Successfully connect at least 50 households initially engaged at PATH Plaza Day 
Shelter to permanent housing 

06/30/2028 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Counts of people served at Day Shelters will be tracked in HMIS through Day Shelter Program 
Enrollments and custom-built “Check-in” modules within the same platform. Successful 
connections to permanent housing will be tracked through custom-built, system-level reports in 
HMIS that track individuals’ and households’ pathways through the local homeless response system. 



32 
 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Key Action 10.  

Key Action  

Sustain Street Outreach Services, including Recent Integration of Case Management 

Street Outreach services are provided throughout the county to protect the health and safety of 
unsheltered individuals, to connect them to housing and mainstream services, and to foster 
relationships crucial to developing the trust many need in order to accept additional services. Street 
Outreach teams and advocates meet unsheltered people where they’re at and provide basic needs 
items like water, individually-packaged food items, hygiene supplies, and more. The PATH Street 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

ERF, HHAP-5, PLHA, 
Local/private funding 
and community 
donations (cash and 
in-kind) 

ERF and PLHA funds are used to support 
day-to-day operations of the PATH Plaza 
Day Shelter. HHAP-5 funds are obligated 
to support of day-to-day operations of 
the FCCC Day Shelter. Both projects 
utilize community/foundation grants and 
cash and in-kind community donations 
to sustain certain activities (e.g., 
community donations of gently used 
clothing, pet supplies/services from 
Busters Paw Prints, food donations from 
Feeding America) 

N/A 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery The key action will address system performance disparities by making 
services available in South County, a location that has historically not 
had equitable access to community homeless services. South County 
is also home to the county’s largest proportions of Hispanic/Latino 
households and Spanish-speaking households.  



33 
 

Outreach Services (SOS) also provides haul-away of garbage bagged by encampment residents. 
Through recent implementation of Rural Indoor Objectives (RIO), an ERF project, provider SOS has 
expanded and enriched it’s outreach services by bringing case managers along to encampments and 
other unsheltered locations to establish relationships and case plans and to provide immediate 
connections to resources.  

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 6 Providing robust street outreach services promotes successful 
connections to interim and housing programs.  

CA SPM 1b Successful placements from Street Outreach will reduce the 
number of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

PATH, TCHSA, PneumaCare, RBPD HLO 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Increase successful placements from Street Outreach to at least 50 
individuals (exits to interim housing and/or permanent housing) 

06/30/2027 

Conduct system-level data quality review for Street Outreach exits and 
establish procedures for ongoing data quality monitoring of same to ensure 
that successful placements from Street Outreach are being accurately 
recorded. 

06/30/2026 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Successful placements from Street Outreach will be tracked through review of Street Outreach 
Program Enrollment exits in HMIS and through custom-built system-level HMIS reports that track 
individuals’ and households’ pathways through the homeless response system. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 



34 
 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Key Action 11.  

Key Action  

Sustain City of Red Bluff Street Outreach Services Provided by Homeless Liaison Officer 

The Homeless Liaison Officer (HLO) provides outreach to encampments and individuals in other 
unsheltered situations in Red Bluff to build relationships, and to provide basic needs items and 
connections to services. The HLO serves as a bridge between the City and the unsheltered 
community.  

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 6 Providing robust street outreach services promotes successful 
connections to interim and housing programs.  

CA SPM 1b Successful placements from Street Outreach will reduce the 
number of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. 

 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

ERF-3-R, HHAP-2, 
HHAP-5, Cal AIM 
(Medi-Cal Program) 

ERF-3-R funds support ongoing Street 
Outreach activities in Red Bluff 
conducted by PATH and TCHSA. HHAP-2 
funds are currently being utilized to 
support TCHSA mobile outreach, 
including the mobile health clinic 
outreach. HHAP-5 funds are used to 
support Street Outreach activities in 
South County and outlying areas. Cal 
AIM funds are utilized by PneumaCare 
programs, including outreach. 

N/A 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system performance 
disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in this area (choose one at a 
minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery The mobile nature and on-location service methods of Street Outreach provision 
make it possible for teams and advocates to build connections with populations 
overrepresented in the local unsheltered population but underrepresented in 
housing services, including shelter and interim housing. These populations 
include people who are Indigenous/Native American and people with serious 
mental health and/or substance use disorders.  



35 
 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

RBPD 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

HLO to contact at least 220 unsheltered individuals, providing basic needs 
items and/or connections to services 

06/30/2027 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success will be measured through aggregate, and where possible, client-level reporting provided by 
RBPD. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

ERF-3-R, Local Funding ERF-3-R provides fiscal support for HLO 
activities as part of the RIO project. 
Additional support for this position 
currently comes from City of Red Bluff 
General Funds. 

Choose an item. 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 



36 
 

 

Key Action 12.  

Key Action  

Support and Promote Provider Participation in the Collaborative Re-entry Team 

The Re-Entry Team is a multi-disciplinary team that meets monthly to case conference for individuals 
scheduled for release from Tehama County Jail. Representatives from several sectors, including 
housing, behavioral health, and probation, among others, collaborate to ensure that resources are in 
place for discharged individuals with significant service needs, including those who cannot return to 
the housing they had when they entered custody, those who were homeless upon entry and have no 
housing to which to discharge, and those whose housing situation is otherwise precarious. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 2 Offering wraparound services, including housing services, to 
individuals being discharged whose previous housing is no longer 
available to them or who are at risk of losing their housing will 
prevent first-time homelessness for people exiting the jail. 

CA SPM 1b Offering wraparound services, including housing services, to 
individuals being discharged who were homeless upon entry and 
have no housing to which to return will prevent these individuals 
from joining the unsheltered population upon release.  

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

PATH, TCHSA, Tehama County Probation 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Successfully connect at least 25 individuals exiting county jail to PATH Day 
Shelter and/or housing services (shelter/interim/RRH) 

06/30/2028 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

Service Delivery The mobile nature and on-location service methods outreach 
provision make it possible for the HLO  to build connections with 
populations overrepresented in the local unsheltered population 
but underrepresented in housing services, including shelter and 
interim housing. These populations include people who are 
Indigenous/Native American and people with serious mental health 
and/or substance use disorders.  



37 
 

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success will be measured through reports provided by PATH staff who participate in Re-Entry Team 
meetings. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Key Action 13.  

Key Action  

Connect people experiencing and at risk of homelessness with Mainstream Services/Public 
Benefits 

Facilitating connections to mainstream services and public benefits is an integrated component in 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

HHAP-6, ERF-3-R Funds from both sources support this 
activity as activity under PATH Plaza Day 
Shelter, as this is the immediate service 
persons exiting the jail are encouraged to 
engage in, although preliminary case 
plans may also include accessing 
additional PATH services and those 
available through community partners. 

Operating Expenses - Interim 
Housing 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery This Key Action will address disparities in by ensuring that 
individuals from racially and ethnically marginalized 
communities—who are disproportionately impacted by both 
incarceration and homelessness—have early, coordinated access 
to housing and supportive services upon release. 



38 
 

Case Management services across all supported projects. Case Managers and other direct services 
staff are trained on and maintain up-to-date information on community resources and are available 
to assist participants in connecting to services and benefits. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 3 Access to mainstream services and public benefits are often crucial 
to a household’s stabilization and ability to access permanent 
housing. Connections to these resources are an important part of 
Housing Case Management, and as such increases the likelihood 
that a household will enter permanent housing. 

CA SPM 5 Access to these supports are important to the continued ability of 
households who have exited homelessness to permanent housing 
to remain stable and retain their housing, reducing the likelihood 
that they will return to homelessness. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

PATH, Empower Tehama, TCHSA, TCDSS, FCCC, LSS 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Improve access to non-cash benefits (Medi-Cal, CalFresh, etc.) for at least 
200 Day Shelter and/or Interim Housing participants 

06/30/2027 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success on this key action will be measured through monitoring Entry and Exit HMIS Assessments 
Non-Cash Benefits sections for exiting participants. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will For HHAP 6-funded Key 



39 
 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Key Action 14.  

Key Action  

Convert Vehicle Assistance Pilot Program to Permanent Program 

A pilot Vehicle Assistance Program was implemented in 2024 and has since assisted at least 18 
households experiencing homelessness or recently placed in permanent housing with expenses 
associated with safe and legal operation of personal vehicles and trailers/RVs, including 
registrations, auto insurance, and other related costs to prevent participants from incurring charges 
and/or fines, protect participants’ vehicles from being towed/impounded, and make it possible for 
participants whose preference is to remain in their own RV/Trailer to be placed in available spaces in 
established RV/Trailer Parks. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 1b Where participants whose preference is to remain in their own 
RVs/Trailers can be placed in available spaces in established 
RV/Trailer Parks, these participants can exit unsheltered 
homelessness. 

CA SPM 5 Continued, legal access to a personal vehicle for transportation to 
work, school, shopping, etc. is a supportive factor for the ability of 
recently-housed individuals and households, increasing the 

contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

HHAP-2, HHAP-3, 
HHAP-4, HHAP-5, 
HHAP-6, ERF-3-R, ESG, 
VOCA 

Funding sources supporting all or almost 
all direct services project allow, and will 
support, provision of Case Management 
and/or resource navigation services that 
include connecting participants to 
mainstream services and public 
benefits. 

N/A 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery Supporting multiple pathways to connections to mainstream 
benefits ensures that individuals from all backgrounds can gain 
access to these resources through the “door” that works best for 
them, and with the assistance of a case manager/advocate who 
understands their unique communication needs. 



40 
 

likelihood that they can retain their housing. 

CA SPM 3 In our rural area, where public transportation is limited, access to 
reliable transportation is often important to an individual’s or 
household’s ability to gain and retain employment and search for 
housing. Providing participants with assistance with costs 
associated with retaining the vehicles, into which they have already 
invested their own resources, is a relatively cost-efficient 
intervention that increases the likelihood that they will be able to 
obtain permanent housing. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

PATH 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Provide at least 30 households with assistance with vehicle registrations 
and/or auto insurance  

06/30/2028 

Assist with the placement of at least 10 households who prefer to remain in 
their existing RVs/Trailers in available spaces in established RV/Trailer 
parks, with or without ongoing assistance with the cost of space rent. 

06/30/2029 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success will be measured through analysis of HMIS outcomes in conjunction with records entered 
into the same platform using a custom-built module for recording vehicle assistance. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

  HHIP HHIP funds are more flexible than many N/A 



41 
 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

Key Action 15.  

Key Action  

Continue and Expand the Tehama LIFT (Live Inspired for Tomorrow) Event. 

The LIFT Event is held annually and provides an opportunity for Tehama County residents, including 
people experiencing and at risk of homelessness, to access a wide range of services in one location 
on a single day in November. Attendees can access medical, dental, behavioral health, and 
substance use recovery screenings and services, no-cost haircuts, clothing, sleeping bags and other 
items from Recycle the Warmth, a warm lunch, and showers at the event. LIFT also features a 
resource fair at which attendees can establish connections and obtain information on community 
resources. Attendees with pets can access pet vaccinations and basic veterinary care, as well as no-
cost pet supplies and pet food at the event. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 2 Providing access to services and resources to people at risk of 
homelessness through the LIFT Event increases the likelihood that 
they will remain in housing and can avoid homelessness.  

CA SPM 1b Persons experiencing unsheltered homelessness can learn more 
about available in the community, including housing services, at the 
LIFT Event in a no-obligation, low-barrier manner, increasing the 
likelihood that they will engage in services and transition to interim 
and/or permanent housing. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

TCCAA, TCDSS, TCHSA, PATH, NCCDI, various medical and other human services agencies 

grant funds, allowing the CoC to support 
unconventional costs. 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system performance 
disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in this area (choose one at a 
minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery This Key Action aims to prevent punitive system interactions, vehicle 
impoundments and fines that disproportionately impact marginalized 
populations and vulnerable individuals who depend on the safety that their 
vehicle provides, including unaccompanied women, seniors, and people 
with disabilities.  



42 
 

 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Provide services to at least 750 people annually at the LIFT Event 06/30/2029 
 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success will be measured through attendee registration information and data tracked by 
participating service providers. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

Local/Foundation 
grants, community 
sponsorships, in-kind 
donations 

This combination of flexible funding and 
in-kind support allows the event to be 
conducted in a cost-efficient manner 
with few restrictions on allowable costs. 

N/A 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery The LIFT event is intentionally marketed in both English and 
Spanish, with bilingual flyers and outreach materials distributed 
throughout the community. At the event, Spanish-speaking 
volunteers and staff are present at registration and throughout 
key service areas, including medical and dental care, ensuring 
that monolingual Spanish speakers can fully participate and 
receive in-language services. 

  



43 
 

Key Action 16.  

Key Action  

Sustain Collaborative Working Groups on Priority Areas Identified in the Update to the 10-
Year Plan to End Homelessness: 

Priority Area 1: Permanent Housing  

Priority Area 2: Health & Human Services 

Priority Area 3: Barriers to Accessing Services 

Priority Area 4: Unique Community Needs (South County) 

Working groups meet monthly to maintain momentum towards meeting 5- and 10-year goals set in 
the 2024 Update to the 10-Year Plan to End Homelessness. 

 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 1a The work of these groups results in improvements to services, 
improved access to services, increasing the likelihood that more 
people experiencing or at risk of homelessness will access services.  

CA SPM 3 The work of the Permanent Housing Working Group contributes to 
increasing the availability of affordable/permanent supportive 
housing, which increases opportunities for people experiencing 
homelessness to access permanent housing and for people at risk 
of homelessness to access housing that is affordable for them. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

TCHSA, PATH, TCDE, PneumaCare, Dignity Health 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Conduct and aggregate data from surveys with South County community 
members and service providers 

06/30/2026 

Increase/diversify participation in Working Groups through identifying 
potential community partner agencies and other stakeholders, particularly 
those serving or who are members of underserved communities and 
conducting outreach to invite their participation. (Ongoing) 

06/30/2029 

Where forward progress on 5- and 10-year goals is found to be challenging, 
connect with other communities to gain best practices/lessons learned, 
brainstorm ideas, identify funding sources, facilitate connections, share 
templates, see pilot programs, etc. (Ongoing) 

06/30/2029 



44 
 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success will be measured through tracking progress towards 5- and 10-year goals identified for each 
Priority Area in the Update to the 10-Year Plan (each Working Group corresponds to a Priority Area). 
Indirect impact on SMP measures will be evaluated through reviewing, in context with other potential 
influences, of annual Calendar Year CA SPM Data received from HDIS.   

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Key Action 17.  

Key Action  

Support Networking Opportunities for Direct Services Staff  

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

HHAP-4, HHAP-5, 
HHAP-6, HHIP, CoC 
Program (CoC 
Planning), various 
funding supporting 
community partner 
participation 

HHAP-5 and HHAP-6 Administrative 
Costs, HHAP-4 and HHAP-5 Systems 
Support, and CoC Program (CoC 
Planning) funds support CoC staff 
participation. Participation of staff 
community partner agencies is funded 
by a variety of sources. 

Administrative Costs (no more 
than 7 percent of allocation)  

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery Collaboration between multiple community partners across 
multiple sectors will ensure that best practices are shared and 
implemented, including best practices for ensuring equity in 
service delivery. 



45 
 

Regularly held, semi-formal convenings attended by direct services staff from homeless response, 
housing, healthcare, education, and other intersecting human service areas that offer staff 
opportunities to make person-to-person connections that they then leverage to facilitate 
meaningful referrals, warm hand-offs, and collaborative case management services for the people 
experiencing or at risk of homelessness they serve. 

 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 4 Networking between direct services staff, and particularly between 
Case Managers/Case Coordinators in our region has been proven a 
more effective method of educating direct services staff on the 
services available outside of their own organizations than providing 
resource lists or even formal trainings.  

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

TCHSA, various Community Partners 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Hold at least one combined meeting of Red Bluff and Corning Community 
Partner Resource events 

06/30/2027 

 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Success will be measured through feedback and reports on successful case collaborations from 
participating partners. 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 



46 
 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

Key Action 18.  

Key Action  

Create Working Group with a Focus on Providing Culturally Responsive Services for 
Indigenous/Native American Residents 

Identify and engage with members of local tribes and people who are Indigenous/Native American, 
particularly those with lived experience of homelessness and/or housing insecurity to support the 
development of a working group to inform improvements to housing and homeless response services 
to better serve Indigenous/Native American individuals, who are significantly overrepresented in 
Tehama County’s unsheltered population when compared to the overall county population yet 
underrepresented in the population of people accessing services. 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

CA SPM 7.1a Improvements to housing and homeless response services to better 
serve Indigenous/Native American people experiencing or at risk of 
homelessness will result in more Indigenous/Native American 
individuals experiencing or at risk of homelessness to engage in 
services. 

CA SPM 7.3 Improvements to services that connect to and/or provide permanent 

Key Action category to fund this Key 
Action. 

HHAP-4, HHAP-5, 
HHAP-6, HHIP, CoC 
Program (CoC 
Planning), MHSA, 
various funding 
supporting community 
partner participation 

HHAP-5 and HHAP-6 Administrative 
Costs, HHAP-4 and HHAP-5 Systems 
Support, and CoC Program (CoC 
Planning) funds support CoC staff 
participation. Networking groups are led 
and coordinated by TCHSA’s MHSA 
Coordinator. Participation in Networking 
groups by staff from community partner 
agencies is funded by a variety of 
sources. 

Administrative Costs (no more 
than 7 percent of allocation)  

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery Collaboration between multiple community partners across 
multiple sectors will ensure that best practices are shared and 
implemented, including best practices for ensuring equity in 
service delivery. 



47 
 

housing to better serve Indigenous/Native American people 
experiencing or at risk of homelessness will result in more 
Indigenous/Native American individuals engaging in services and 
will improve outcomes for Indigenous/Native American individuals 
in these services. 

 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Tehama County CoC 

Collaborating entity/ies  

Greenville Rancheria, TCHSA, PATH, People with Lived Experience 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

Identify and invite potential members and hold first convening of workgroup 06/30/2026 

Conduct Listening Sessions to inform Cultural Responsiveness Improvement 
Plan 

06/30/2028 

Support and facilitate regular working group meetings (ongoing) 06/30/2029 
 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

6/30/2029 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

Impact of implementing recommendations will be measured by analysis of  

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the 
Key Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

HHAP-4, HHAP-5, 
HHAP-6, HHIP, CoC 
Program (CoC 
Planning) 

HHAP-5 and HHAP-6 Administrative 
Costs, HHAP-4 and HHAP-5 Systems 
Support, and CoC Program (CoC 
Planning) funds support CoC staff 
participation. 

Administrative Costs (no more 
than 7 percent of allocation)  



48 
 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

 

 

 

 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 

Service Delivery The Key Action will improve access to housing and services for 
Indigenous and Native American individuals experiencing 
homelessness, which have historically been over-represented in 
the community's unsheltered population. 



STAFF REPORT: 

TCDE Practical Supports for Homeless Students (Agenda Item 7.b) 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 

TCDE Practical Supports for Homeless Students  

Background Information: 

Tehama County Department of Education’s current Education for Homeless Children 

and Youth (EHCY) program serves all 13 school districts by providing a wide array of 

services that support students experiencing homelessness and their families, either 

directly to the student/family, or through empowering and supporting designated 

Homeless Liaisons at individual schools to deliver assistance to students experiencing 

homelessness enrolled at their schools.  

Supports available to students experiencing homelessness and their families through the 

work of EHCY include: 

• Providing school supplies, hygiene supplies, food, and clothing 

• Educational support including timely transfers of school records, coordinating 

assistance with transportation to school, and parent education on educational 

rights and support materials 

• Referrals to programs that provide emotional and practical support for students, 

such as Elevate Youth Solutions, Bridge to College and Career (B2CC), Police 

Activity League (PAL) Mentoring Program, the Solutions for Youth Fund, and Safe 

Education & Recreation for Rural Families (SERRF) 

• Referrals to community partner programs, including PATH (for shelter, transitional 

housing, and rental assistance), Tehama County Community Action Agency (for 

deposit assistance, energy assistance, tailgate food giveaways and emergency 

food) and CalWORKs (for access to public benefits and employment training 

and assistance), Empower Tehama (for domestic violence and healthy 

relationships services), Tehama County Health Services Agency (for access to 

behavioral health, substance use recovery, and medical services, as well as 

parenting education services), and other community programs, as needed 

Meeting the emergency needs of students experiencing homelessness and their families 

through providing practical supports – clothing, shoes, school supplies, survival supplies 

(sleeping bags, tents, etc.) and other needed items is one of the most impactful 

interventions that EHCY employs, yet it is also the most difficult to fund. Providing these 

supports requires EHCY to be flexible enough to respond rapidly to the unique situations 

of individual students and families, making it difficult to purchase items in bulk or even in 

advance.  

From 2021-2023, TCDE had access to one-time funding through the American Rescue 

Plan -Homeless Children and Youth (ARP-HCY) program that supported this intervention. 

As has been the case with so many of the funding opportunities made available 

specifically to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, the ending of this funding served to 



STAFF REPORT: 

TCDE Practical Supports for Homeless Students (Agenda Item 7.b) 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 

highlight that the needs it helped meet did not go away with the pandemic itself but 

are instead ongoing.  

In December of 2023, Tehama CoC approved an award of $25,000 to EHCY to support 

ongoing provision of these crucial services. To date, as EHCY staff report in the 

attached letter, approximately 85% of the funds made available through this award 

have been utilized by EHCY to support at least 190 individual students across the 13 

districts served by TCDE. The program anticipates expending the remaining funds rather 

quickly as school starts up again for the 2025-26 academic year and eligible students 

and families get connected and/or reconnected to their services.  

Despite EHCY staff’s diligent and ongoing efforts to seek out funding to support these 

services from other state and federal programs, no alternative source has been 

identified. In fact, recent changes proposed and/or underway at the federal level 

threaten to cut even EHCY’s access to McKinney-Vento funding, the main source of 

support for services for students experiencing homelessness throughout the nation.  

To ensure that EHCY can continue meeting these crucial needs of local students and 

their families experiencing homelessness, program staff are requesting additional funds 

from Tehama CoC.  

Additional details on the use and impact of the initial award of $25,000 made to TCDE 

in December 2023 and the continuing need for these services can be found the 

attached letter , from EHCY staff, dated July 17, 2025. 

Financial Impact: 

The initial award to TCDE/EHCY from Tehama CoC was made up of Housing and 

Homelessness Incentive Program (HHIP) program funds awarded to Tehama CoC by 

HealthNet, the parent company of the Medi-Cal Managed Care Plan California Health 

and Wellness, which was active in the region at that time. The award was consistent 

with the eligible use described in HealthNet’s agreement with Tehama CoC that reads: 

Practical supports for students experiencing homelessness (including 

unaccompanied homeless youth and children in families experiencing 

homelessness) to be administered through the local school district and/or 

local schools, including clothing, hygiene supplies and other items that 

allow the students to maintain their health and safety and continue 

attending school while their housing crisis is being resolved. 

CoC staff have confirmed that funds remaining in the CoC’s HealthNet HHIP award, a 

similar grant awarded to the CoC through Anthem Blue Cross, and other flexible 

funding sources available to fulfil this allocation. 

Recommendations: 

Suggested Action(s): Authorize award of $25,000 in HHIP and/or other flexible funds 

available for this use to Tehama County Department of Education Foster/Homeless 



STAFF REPORT: 

TCDE Practical Supports for Homeless Students (Agenda Item 7.b) 

Tehama County Continuum of Care Executive Council Meeting, August 13, 2025 

Program to support practical supports for students experiencing homelessness in 

Tehama County. 

Attachments: 

TCDE_Outcomes Letter to Tehama CoC.pdf 



‭July 17,2025‬

‭Dear Members of the Tehama County Continuum of Care,‬

‭On behalf of the Foster and Homeless Youth Program, we would like to extend our sincere‬
‭gratitude for your generous support of $25,000 provided in March 2024. These funds have been‬
‭a lifeline for our county’s most vulnerable youth and their families, helping us meet immediate‬
‭needs with flexibility that other funding sources, such as McKinney-Vento, simply do not allow.‬

‭With your support, we have been able to provide clothing assistance, basic necessities, and‬
‭critical resources, not only to students experiencing homelessness but also to their family‬
‭members, a vital area that McKinney-Vento funding does not permit us to address. This‬
‭flexibility has been essential for families navigating complex and often traumatic circumstances.‬

‭In just the first three months of receiving the funding (March to June 2024), we spent $3,‬
‭791.75. During that time we served 13 early education students, 14 elementary school students,‬
‭4 middle school students and 24 high school students. Since the start of the 2024-2025 school‬
‭year we have utilized approximately $17,000 of these funds to support families in need,‬
‭purchasing everything from clothing to diapers and hygiene items. So far, we have served 13‬
‭early education students, 74 elementary school students, 19 middle school students and 84‬
‭high school students. The impact of these funds has been felt across all 13 school districts,‬
‭NCCDI, Early Education programs, and youth connected with Probation.‬

‭Currently, Tehama County is home to approximately 708 unhoused youth with 90 of those youth‬
‭being unaccompanied. These numbers reflect a significant and ongoing crisis. With only about‬
‭$4,000 in funding remaining, we respectfully request consideration for additional support from‬
‭the Continuum of Care. The need continues to grow, and with McKinney-Vento funding for the‬
‭2026–2027 fiscal year in jeopardy, additional support through the Vitality Project would allow us‬
‭to not only maintain but expand our efforts ensuring that no child or youth in our county falls‬
‭through the cracks due to unmet basic needs.‬

‭Thank you for your time, consideration, and commitment to the youth of Tehama County. We‬
‭would be more than happy to provide further detail or data, and we welcome the opportunity to‬
‭discuss the continuation of this vital collaboration.‬

‭Warm regards,‬
‭Karina Velasquez and Barbara Weaver‬
‭Foster and Homeless Program‬
‭Tehama County Department of Education‬




